

Report authors Rickson, R.J.<sup>1</sup>, Deeks, L.K.<sup>1</sup>, Corstanje, R.<sup>1</sup>, Newell-Price, P.<sup>2</sup>, Kibblewhite, M.G.<sup>1</sup>, Chambers, B.<sup>2</sup>, Bellamy, P.<sup>1</sup>, Holman, I.<sup>1</sup>, James, I.T.<sup>1</sup>, Jones, R.<sup>1</sup>, Kechavarsi, C.<sup>1</sup>, Mouazen, A.M.<sup>1</sup>, Ritz, K.<sup>1</sup>, Waine, T<sup>1</sup>.

<sup>1</sup>Cranfield University. <sup>2</sup> ADAS

Contents	
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY TO FINAL REPORT	1
1. PROJECT OBJECTIVES	3
2. LITERATURE REVIEW AND SELECTION OF CANDIDATE PHYSICAL SQIS	
(details in Work Package 1 Report)	4
2.1. Collation and review of candidate soil quality indicators – physical properties	4
2.2. Selection of candidate soil physical properties which meet the specifications	
required to 'qualify' as meaningful physical SQIs using the logical sieve approach	5
3. DATA ANALYSIS AND MODELLING (details in Work Package 2 report)	6
3.1 Basis for the assessment of SQIs (physical properties)	7
3.2. SQI Assessment Structure	10
3.3 Statistical Background and Sample Size Calculations	10
3.3.1. Obtaining an estimate of the SQI variability.	10
3.3.2. Applicable analysis to candidate SQIs	11
3.4 Summary of Fact Sheets (full details in Work Package 2 report)	12
3.4.1. Packing Density	12
3.4.2. Soil Water Retention Characteristics.	12
3.4.3 Aggregate Stability	15
3.4.4. Rate of Erosion	18
3.4.5. Depth of soil	19
3.4.6. Soil Sealing	19
3.4.7. Visual Soil Evaluation	20
3.5 Integration of physical SQIs	22
3.6 Conclusions to Data Analysis and Modelling	23
4. SYNTHESIS AND POLICY IMPLICATIONS (details in Work Package 3 report)	25
4.1 Policy background and drivers	25
4.2 Current policy	25
4.3 Evaluation of policy relevance of physical SQIs	26
4.4. Exploring whether physical SQIs could be incorporated into soil monitoring	
frameworks at the national scale.	26
4.4.1. Choosing a monitoring scheme	27
4.5. Conclusion to WP3 - Selection of suitable physical soil quality indicators (SQI	s)
to be used for soil monitoring in England and Wales	28
5. PROJECT CONCLUSIONS	29
5.1 The logical sieve approach	29
5.2 Data availability and analysis	31
5.3 Options for a national soil monitoring programme	31
5.4 Future work	32
REFERENCES	34

# EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The condition of soil determines its ability to carry out diverse and essential functions that support human health and wellbeing. These functions (or ecosystem goods and services) include producing food, storing water, carbon and nutrients, protecting our buried cultural heritage and providing a habitat for flora and fauna. Therefore, it is important to know the condition or quality of soil and how this changes over space and time in response to natural factors (such as changing weather patterns) or to land management practices. Meaningful soil quality indicators (SQIs), based on physical, biological or chemical soil properties are needed for the successful implementation of a soil monitoring programme in England and Wales. Soil monitoring can provide decision makers with important data to target, implement and evaluate policies aimed at safeguarding UK soil resources. Indeed, the absence of agreed and well-defined SQIs is likely to be a barrier to the development of soil protection policy and its subsequent implementation. This project assessed whether physical soil properties can be used to indicate the quality of soil in terms of its capacity to deliver ecosystem goods and services. The 22 direct (e.g. bulk density) and 4 indirect (e.g. catchment hydrograph) physical SQIs defined by Loveland and Thompson (2002) and subsequently evaluated by Merrington et al. (2006), were re-visited in the light of new scientific evidence, recent policy drivers and developments in sampling techniques and monitoring methodologies (Work Package 1). The culmination of these efforts resulted in 38 direct and 4 indirect soil physical properties being identified as potential SQIs.

Based on the gathered evidence, a 'logical sieve' was used to assess the relative strengths, weaknesses and suitability of each potential physical SQI for national scale soil monitoring. Each soil physical property was scored in terms of:

- soil function does the candidate SQI reflect all soil function(s)?
- land use does the candidate SQI apply to all land uses found nationally?
- soil degradation can the candidate SQI express soil degradation processes?
- does the candidate SQI meet the challenge criteria used by Merrington et al. (2006)?

This approach enabled a consistent synthesis of available information and the semi-objective, semiquantitative and transparent assessment of indicators against a series of scientific and technical criteria (Ritz et al., 2009; Black et al., 2008). The logical sieve was shown to be a flexible decisionsupport tool to assist a range of stakeholders with different agenda in formulating a prioritised list of potential physical SQIs. This was explored further by members of the soil science and soils policy community at a project workshop.

By emphasising the current key policy-related soil functions (i.e. provisioning and regulating), the logical sieve was used to generate scores which were then ranked to identify the most qualified SQIs. The process selected 18 candidate physical SQIs. This list was further filtered to move from the 'narrative' to a more 'numerical' approach, in order to test the robustness of the candidate SQIs through statistical analysis and modelling (Work Package 2). The remaining 7 physical SQIs were: depth of soil; soil water retention characteristics; packing density; visual soil assessment / evaluation; rate of erosion; sealing; and aggregate stability.

For these SQIs to be included in a robust national soil monitoring programme, we investigated the uncertainty in their measurement; the spatial and temporal variability in the indicator as given by observed distributions; and the expected rate of change in the indicator. Whilst a baseline is needed (i.e. the current state of soil), it is the rate of change in soil properties and the implications of that change in terms of soil processes and functioning that are key to effective soil monitoring. Where empirical evidence was available, power analysis was used to understand the variability of indicators as given by the observed distributions. This process determines the ability to detect a particular change in the SQI at a particular confidence level, given the 'noise' or variability in the data (i.e. a particular power to detect a change of 'X' at a confidence level of 'Y%' would require 'N' samples).

However, the evidence base for analysing the candidate SQIs is poor: data are limited in spatial and temporal extent for England and Wales, in terms of a) the degree (magnitude) of change in the SQI which significantly affects soil processes and functions (i.e. 'meaningful change'), and b) the change in the SQI that is detectable (i.e. what sample size is needed to detect the meaningful signal from the variability or noise in the signal). This constrains the design and implementation of a scientifically and statistically rigorous and reliable soil monitoring programme. Evidence that is available suggests that what constitutes meaningful change will depend on soil type, current soil state, land use and the soil function under consideration. However, when we tested this by analysing detectable changes in packing density and soil depth (because data were available for these SQIs) over different land covers and soil types, no relationships were found. Schipper and Sparling (2000) identify the challenge: "a standardised methodology may not be appropriate to apply across contrasting soils and land uses. However, it is not practical to optimise sampling and analytical techniques for each soil and land use for extensive sampling on a national scale".

Despite the paucity in data, all seven SQIs have direct relevance to current and likely future soil and environmental policy, because they can be related (qualitatively) to soil processes, soil functions and delivery of ecosystem goods and services. Even so, meaningful and detectable changes in physical SQIs may be out of time with any soil policy change and it is not usually possible to link particular changes in SQIs to particular policy activities. This presents challenges in ascertaining trends that can

feed into policy development or be used to gauge the effectiveness of soil protection policies (Work Package 3).

Of the seven candidate physical SQIs identified, soil depth and surface sealing are regarded by many as indicators of soil quantity rather than quality. Visual soil evaluation is currently not suited to soil monitoring in the strictest sense, as its semi-qualitative basis cannot be analysed statistically. Also, few data exist on how visual evaluation scores relate to soil functions. However, some studies have begun to investigate how VSE might be moved to a more quantified scale and the method has some potential as a low cost field technique to assess soil condition. Packing density requires data on bulk density and clay content, both of which are highly variable, so compounding the error term associated with this physical SQI. More evidence is needed to show how 'meaningful' change in aggregate stability affects soil processes and thus soil functions (for example, using the limited data available, an equivocal relationship was found with water regulation / runoff generation). The analysis of available data has given promising results regarding the prediction of soil water retention characteristics and packing density from relatively easy to measure soil properties (bulk density, texture and organic C) using pedotransfer functions. Expanding the evidence base is possible with the development of rapid, cost-effective techniques such as NIR sensors to measure soil properties. Defra project SP1303 (Brazier et al., 2012) used power analyses to estimate the number of monitoring locations required to detect a statistically significant change in soil erosion rate on cultivated land. However, what constitutes a meaningful change in erosion rates still requires data on the impacts of erosion on soil functions.

Priority cannot be given amongst the seven SQIs, because the evidence base for each varies in its robustness and extent. Lack of data (including uncertainty in measurement and variability in observed distributions) applies to individual SQIs; attempts at integrating more than one SQI (including physical, biological and chemical SQIs) to improve associations between soil properties and processes / functions are only likely to propagate errors.

Whether existing monitoring programmes can be adapted to incorporate additional measurement of physical SQIs was explored. We considered options where one or more of the candidate physical SQIs might be implemented into soil monitoring programmes (e.g. as a new national monitoring scheme; as part of the Countryside Survey; and as part of the National Soil Inventory). The challenge is to decide whether carrying out soil monitoring that is not statistically robust is still valuable in answering questions regarding current and future soil quality.

The relationship between physical (and other) SQIs, soil processes and soil functions is complex, as is how this influences ecosystem services' delivery. Important gaps remain in even the realisation of a conceptual model for these inter-relationships, let alone their quantification. There is also a question of whether individual quantitative SQIs can be related to ecosystem services, given the number of variables.

## **1. PROJECT OBJECTIVES**

The aim of this project was to provide evidence to support the implementation of a meaningful soil monitoring programme in England and Wales. The development of such a programme has been hindered by the limited number of suitable physical soil quality indicators (SQIs) that have been identified so far. Previous work has examined a number of physical soil properties and judged their suitability as SQIs against very specific "challenge" or selection criteria. The latest report (Merrington et al., 2006) found only one property, soil bulk density, met these criteria. Despite 'qualifying' as a suitable SQI, this property alone does not capture the overall quality of soil; for instance, it is not a good indicator of the water transport function of soil, which affects important services such as flood control, crop growth and mitigation of nutrient losses to watercourses. The paucity of physical SQIs represents a significant limitation of current soil monitoring in characterising soil quality.

This project sought to develop physical indicators of soil quality (physical SQIs) to add to the current proposed suite of indicators for any future national soil monitoring. We aimed to identify soil physical properties that indicate the soils' capacity to deliver ecosystem goods and services. It is also important that changes in soil processes, functions and quality are captured by changes in the SQIs (and vice versa). These indicators are needed for the successful implementation of a meaningful soil

monitoring programme in England and Wales. The aims of the project were achieved by carrying out the following specific evidence objectives:

Objective 1.1: Collation and review of previous scientific evidence, reports, data, SQI selection criteria and approach, sampling techniques and monitoring methodologies aimed at identifying salient physical SQIs, in the light of recent scientific advances and developments in soil policy. Objective 1.2: Identify candidate soil physical properties which meet the specifications required to 'qualify' as meaningful physical SQIs.

Objective 2.1: Evaluation of new scientific evidence, reports, data, SQI selection criteria, sampling techniques and monitoring methodologies aimed at identifying salient physical SQIs Objective 2.2: Identification of suitable physical SQIs from the findings of Objectives 1.1 and 2.1 above, based on agreed selection criteria, sound science, statistical robustness and feasible data collection methods

Objective 3.1: Consideration of the policy relevance of the candidate physical SQIs identified in Work Package 2

Objective 3.2: Consideration of the cost:effectiveness of the candidate physical SQIs identified in Work Package 2

Objective 3.3. Hold a workshop for the soil science and soil policy community to find agreement on the salient physical SQIs identified in Objectives 1 - 3

Objective 3.4: Propose suitable physical soil quality indicators (SQIs) to be used for soil monitoring in England and Wales

In summary, given advances in research and developments in policy drivers, we revisited and revised the selection of suitable physical soil properties that characterise soils' capacity to deliver ecosystem goods and services. These properties have to be justified as robust, cost:effective indicators of soil quality to be useful in future soil monitoring programmes.

# 2. LITERATURE REVIEW AND SELECTION OF CANDIDATE PHYSICAL SQIs (details in Work Package 1 Report)

#### 2.1. Collation and review of candidate soil quality indicators - physical properties

The scientific evidence, SQI selection criteria, sampling techniques and monitoring methodologies related specifically to physical SQIs, were collated and reviewed, with consideration of recent scientific advances and developments in soil policy. The 22 direct and 4 indirect physical SQIs defined by Loveland and Thompson (2002) and subsequently evaluated by Merrington et al. (2006), were re-evaluated. The culmination of these efforts resulted in 30 direct and 4 indirect physical indicators being identified as having potential. Where indicators can be measured using different techniques, sub-categories have been listed so that both indicator and methods can be evaluated later using a logical sieve approach (Table 1). While the selection criteria used by Merrington et al. (2006) are considered justifiable, reasons for exclusion of some indicators were not always clearly defined in their text. An updated review of the strengths and weaknesses of all the physical SQIs listed in Table 1 is given in Annex 1 of the Work Package 1 report. This document builds upon the conclusions in Loveland and Thompson (2002) and Merrington et al. (2006) regarding the suitability of different soil physical properties as SQIs.

Physical SQI	Sub-category	Indicator
Direct measurements:		-
Bulk density (BD)	Kopecki ring	IND1
Bulk density	On-line sensor fusion	IND2
Bulk density	FDR and VIS-NIR spectroscopy	IND3
Packing density	Visual and BD + clay content	IND4
Total porosity	BD and particle density	IND5
Macroporosity	Tension table	IND6
Soil structure	Visual	IND7
Integrated air capacity to 1 m depth	Vol of pores that drain under	
	gravity	IND8

Table 1. Soil quality indicators – physical properties	s.
--	----

Aggregate stability	Water droplet test	IND9
Dispersion ratio (DR), Water dispersible clay	No definitive method	IND10
Rate of erosion	t ha <sup>-</sup> ' y <sup>-</sup> '; field, aerial surveys	IND11
Sealing (due to construction and urban		
development)	Remote sensing	IND12
Disruption/removal	Remote sensing	IND13
Moisture storage capacity, water holding capacity		
and soil water retention characteristics	Modified moisture release curve	IND14
Available water content	Moisture release curve	IND15
Readily available water content Water held		
between 0.05 and 2 bar pressure.	Moisture release curve	IND16
Water content	SAR	IND17
Water content	ER	IND18
Water content	EMI	IND19
Soil texture (particle size distribution)	Wet sieving and sedimentation	IND20
Soil texture	VNIRS	IND21
Infiltration/drainage capacity	Permeameter	IND22
Saturated hydraulic conductivity	Permeameter	IND23
Time to ponding	Rainfall intensity	IND24
Sorptivity	Model of infiltration	IND25
Soil temperature	Probe	IND26
Soil temperature	Remote sensing	IND27
Depth of soil	Visual	IND28
Penetration resistance	Penetrometer	IND29
Penetration resistance	Going stick	IND30
Shear strength	Shear box	IND31
Shear strength	Going stick	IND32
Topsoil plastic limit to a depth of 1 m	Rolling and moulding	IND33
Number of locations with erosion features	Remote sensing	IND34
Erodibility / aggregate stability	Rainfall	IND35
Capping (due to rainfall impact and slaking)	% area affected	IND36
Rutting and poaching, topsoil surface conditions	Visual	IND37
Profile description/Visual soil evaluation –	Visual	IND38
Indirect measurements:		
Catchment hydrograph	Hydrograph	IND39
Surface water turbidity, suspended sediment load,	Fingerprinting	
sediment fingerprinting		IND40
Biological status of rivers with and without sewage	WFD status	
treatment works		IND41
Number of eutrophication incidents per year	Phosphorous	IND42

# 2.2. Selection of candidate soil physical properties which meet the specifications required to 'qualify' as meaningful physical SQIs using the logical sieve approach

Ritz et al. (2009) proposed a generic framework that supported a structured approach to the identification of potential biological indicators for monitoring the status and change in soils. They adopted a formalised method for assessing the relative strengths, weaknesses and suitability of each indicator for national scale soil monitoring (Black et al., 2008). To achieve this they developed a defined framework, with associated MS Excel based software tool, referred to as a 'logical sieve'. This approach enabled a consistent synthesis of available information and the semi-objective assessment of indicators against a series of scientific and technical criteria. Black et al. (2008) stated that this approach had two clear advantages: it provided a clear record and audit trail on the decision-making process; and it could accommodate the inclusion of new indicators and/or challenge criteria in the future. The logical sieve was used as a decision-support tool to assist in formulating a prioritised list of potential SQIs.

The logical sieve approach was adapted and used to evaluate the potential of the physical soil quality indicators listed in Table 1. While our approach was similar to that of Ritz et al. (2009), some

adaptations and modifications were made, as explained in the Work Package 1 report. The physical SQIs listed in Table 1 were judged (scored) with regard to 4 separate "Categories":

- soil function does the candidate SQI reflect all soil function(s)?
- land use does the candidate SQI apply to all land uses?
- soil degradation can the candidate SQI express soil degradation processes?
- the challenge criteria used by Merrington et al. (2006)

By considering each of these Categories in turn, the aim was to 'score' each SQI in terms of its capability in meeting the requirements of a meaningful physical SQI. The resultant scores were then collated and used to formulate a list of candidate physical indicators of soil quality. Two broad approaches were used in identifying the most promising SQIs:

- A simple ranking of cumulative (additive) scores (incorporating 0 scores, if any)
- A filtering function (or sieve) which states that if a SQI fails at any point to meet the requirements of a meaningful SQI (i.e. scores 0), then this SQI will 'drop out' of the selection process.

There are a number of scenarios that could be used to interrogate the logical sieve (see Work Package 1 report). Three possible scenarios were run to illustrate the types of question that may be asked by different stakeholders:

- Scenario 1 (S1) runs the sieve without weightings being applied to any of the factors in each of the 4 Categories.
- Scenario 2 (S2) applies higher priority to the provisioning and regulation soil functions considered in Category 1 (Soil functions), by applying a weighting of '4' to provisioning and '3' to regulation soil functions. All other factors are allocated a weighting of '1'. This is justified by the current policy-relevance of provisioning and regulating services delivered by soil.
- Scenario 3 (S3) uses the weighting factor to normalise values across all Categories, so that differences in the number of factors in each Category do not affect the outcome (e.g. Category 1 (Soil Function) includes 4 factors to consider, whereas Category 2 (Land Use) has 7 factors to consider and so on).

Analysis of the results from the 3 Scenarios identified 18 candidate physical SQIs (Table 2). These include the top 10 (25%) cumulative scores, as well as all physical SQIs that 'survived' the sieving process (i.e. they scored >0 in all factors in all Categories). The 18 candidate indicators were further filtered to 7 by moving from the 'narrative' of WP1 to a more 'numerical' approach in WP2 i.e. are data available to test the robustness of the candidate SQIs through statistical/modelling analysis? Also, the remaining SQIs were rationalised in terms of duplications, overlaps /double counting and linkages. Selection was also made on the basis of whether there was scientific evidence regarding:

- 1. What is the candidate SQI indicative of (i.e. what function is being degraded)?
- 2. What it is responsive to? How responsive is it? i.e. sensitivity, responsiveness
- 3. What factors may mitigate or accentuate the response? e.g. soil type, land use
- 4. Is this indicator a first order indicator (i.e. a direct measure of the change in soil quality) or a second, third, etc. order indicator (i.e. an indirect measure of the change; e.g. VNIRS, remote sensing)?
- 5. Are there existing or suspected data-holdings for each indicator?
- 6. How is it measured?
- 7. What sampling support does it need?
- 8. What is the sampling intensity required?

As a result of this process (see Appendix 1 of Work Package 2 report), the physical SQIs to be analysed further in WP2 are:

- Depth of soil
- Soil water retention characteristics
- Packing density/ bulk density
- Visual soil evaluation
- Rate of erosion
- Sealing
- Aggregate stability

## 3. DATA ANALYSIS AND MODELLING (details in Work Package 2 report)

The remaining indicators and justification for their inclusion can be found in Table 2 (further justification is given in Appendix 1 of Work Package 2 report). The aim for these SQIs was to investigate:

- the uncertainty in their measurement
- the (spatial and temporal) variability in the indicator as given by observed distributions
- the expected rate of change in the indicator

Where data were available, power analysis methods were used to understand the variability of the indicator as given by the observed distributions. The power of an indicator is its ability to detect a particular change at a particular confidence level given the 'noise' or variability in the data (i.e. a particular power to detect a change 'X' at a confidence level of 'Y%' would require 'N' samples). The physical SQIs should ideally be valid across all soil and land management regimes or within a defined sub-set of regimes. The ability of the methods to discriminate change was tested within such data subsets, since these subsets reduce variability and hence decrease the size of detectable change for a given sample size. This is further described in the statistical analysis in the Work Package 2 report. These characteristics determine whether the candidate SQIs will support the implementation of a meaningful soil monitoring programme in England and Wales. We start by considering in more detail the criteria by which to assess indicators and then present a set of 'fact sheets' in which we detail the behaviour of each individual candidate indicator. In each case, where appropriate data were available, we do so quantitatively; otherwise this was done (semi)qualitatively or (where no data exist) qualitatively.

# 3.1 Basis for the assessment of SQIs (physical properties)

Physical SQIs need to reflect meaningful changes in soil quality at a given location i.e. in the capacity for the soil to function, but also be meaningful with regard to the soil processes they represent (Figure 1). In order to evaluate the effectiveness of the indicator, we need to establish what this meaningful change is, particularly in the relationships between the SQI and the soil function. It is important to note here that what we are evaluating is change; *change* in the SQI itself and relating that change to a change in the processes going on in the soil and in turn relating that change to how the soil functions.



Figure 1. Relationship of soil physical property, process and function

One approach is to take critical values or target ranges for SQIs. The advantage to this approach is in its simplicity: a value of the SQI needs to be ascertained at a given location and the obtained value compared with the range or critical value. The disadvantage to this approach is that it does not capture the dynamic relationships between the SQI and soil functions, and that these may be different for different soil functions, land uses and soil types (Jones, 1983).

Candidate physical SQIs from WP1	Comments following WP2 project meeting (see Appendix 1 of Work Package 2 report)	Further consideration in WP22
1. Bulk density	BD alone is an adequate indicator of soil physical quality, but potentially it can be improved by deriving other indicators that are more closely related to soil quality and performance e.g. packing density.	<ul> <li>✓ (as input to packing density and depth of soil)</li> </ul>
2. Depth of soil	Effective soil depth defines the volume of soil in which roots can grow. Critical depth is where plant cover achieves values above 40%. Crucial depth is where perennial vegetation can no longer be supported. Affected by rate of soil formation, deposition and degradation processes (erosion, compaction, landslides etc.).Direct impact on the regulation and production function, although this may be only once a critical depth is reached, which in turn depends on site and time specific condition. Some data are available to test this.	~
3. Infiltration / drainage capacity	Measurements are highly site specific and very temporally variable. So, the robustness and reliability of measurement using currently available techniques are questionable.	×
4. Soil water retention characteristics	Powerful measures of the capacity of the soil to regulate water (hydrology) and produce biomass. Consider pedo- transfer functions as a cheaper proxy for the more expensive lab measurements. This will be explored using a hydrological model. The value of <i>S</i> (Dexter's S) is indicative of the extent to which the soil porosity is concentrated into a narrow range of pore sizes. In most soils, larger values of <i>S</i> are consistent with the presence of a better-defined microstructure. The S value can be considered as an overall index of physical and structural quality in managed soils. Effectively predicted using pedotransfer functions.	~
5. Number of erosion features	Captured by another SQI. Rate of erosion (8) is likely to include a survey / count of erosion features.	×
6. Packing density	A measure of dry bulk density (BD), modified by texture. PD = BD + 0.009 C; PD is the packing density (dimensionless), BD the dry bulk density (g cm <sup>-3</sup> ) and C the clay content (wt.%). Direct indicator of soil degradation (soil compaction). Requires data on BD (1) and soil texture / particle size distribution (12). Data holdings were identified as LandIS and some of the ADAS experimental data.	~
7. Profile description / visual soil evaluation	Visual soil evaluation (VSE) is based on the qualitative or semi-quantitative evaluation of soil properties Used to assess morphological, physical, biological and chemical soil properties, which are visible or possible to distinguish without laboratory analysis. Insufficient data at the national scale to be able to assess how visual evaluation scores relate to soil function or other indicators of soil physical quality through modelling and data analysis in WP2, but the method should be carried forward as a potential low cost field technique to assess general trends in soil condition at the national scale.	~
8. Rate of erosion	Erosion causes detachment and transport of soil particles / aggregates from the <i>in-situ</i> soil mass, leading to a reduction in soil depth / volume (assuming soil bulk density is constant). Mass (tonnes) of soil lost per unit space (hectare) per unit time (year).Direct indicator of soil degradation and loss of function. Monitoring proposed in SP1303. Data available to link erosion rates with soil functioning (production; regulation – see Defra Costs of Degradation Project SP1606; Graves et al., 2011)	✓

Table 2. Soil Quality Indicators (physical properties) carried forward from WP1 to WP2

9. Sealing	Degree of impervious cover on the soil surface. Can be assessed through remote sensing (satellite and airborne). A sensitive indicator (a step change in soil functioning is likely following sealing) that can be assessed relatively cost effectively.	~
10.Shear strength (Going Stick method)	Limited data available nationally. Only measures the top 10 cm of the soil.	×
11. Soil structure	Can be captured in 7 above	×
12. Soil texture	See 6 above	✓ (as input to packing density)
13. Surface water turbidity	Sediment finger printing has been used in the Demonstration Test Catchment projects to quantify sediment source apportionment. There are questions regarding the sensitivity and indicator responsiveness, as sediment in a river course is spatially removed from the actual source of soil degradation. National coverage of data is limited.	×
14. Total porosity	Directly related to bulk density (1) and particle density (6). BD is captured in PD (6) and particle density does not generally change in soils	×
15. Bulk density (Kopecki ring)	See 1 above	<ul> <li>✓ (as input to packing density and depth of soil)</li> </ul>
16. Erodibility/ aggregate stability	An assessment of the stability of soil surface structure. The susceptibility of soil to (i) slaking, (ii) differential swelling, (iii) mechanical breakdown by raindrop impact and (iv) physico-chemical dispersion processes can be inferred by measurements of aggregate stability. Data lacking in England & Wales, no standard assessment procedures and highly variable soil property in space and time. However, data may be available from outside E&W – needs further investigation.	<u> </u>
17. Biological status of rivers	Too indirect spatially and temporally from soil sources / degradation processes and difficult to relate to the physical quality of soil.	×
18. Number of eutrophication incidents	Too indirect spatially and temporally from soil sources / degradation processes and difficult to relate to the physical quality of soil.	×

As Merrington et al. (2006) already considered this approach to physical SQIs and the general approach has been further developed in WP1, WP2 focused on the *dynamic* relationships between soil functions and SQIs.

There is, however, only a limited amount of information in the literature on the dynamic relationships between soil functions and particular SQIs. As a result, the assessment of 'a meaningful change' was based on those functions where it was possible to find evidence or make inference in relation to the production and regulation function. These functions are also highly relevant in terms of soil policy (see Work Package 3), given current drivers relating to food security, flood alleviation and carbon losses.

There is a spatial unit over which soil quality status is assessed (plot, field, farm, catchment, national scale). The spatial variability within this unit will introduce variability to the SQI irrespective of whether there are any changes in soil function(s). There are numerous sampling methods and sampling designs possible which minimize the effect of this type of variability. A recent report by Lark et al (2012) reviewed the impact of these different designs on one candidate physical SQI (bulk density). In the current project, land units of increasing spatial size were considered, with the assumption that SQI will be used to assess changes in soil quality at the different spatial scales. A second consideration was the impact of a particular land management practice on the effectiveness of an SQI to indicate change in soil quality. In this case, where data were available, we used a combination of land use, soil type and climate classes to determine the impact these factors may have on the background variability of the SQI under consideration.

## 3.2. SQI Assessment Structure

For all SQIs investigated, the level of data analysis and modelling is limited by the evidence base available. This varies considerably amongst the 7 SQIs considered. However, for each candidate physical SQI:

- We describe whether the SQI is meaningful with regard to soil functions.
- We review the evidence to determine what relationships exist between the SQI and soil processes and what might constitute meaningful change.
- We assess the spatial variability of the SQI and the implications for sampling. We do so using a combination of spatial statistics and power analyses. This will give an indication of the number of physical samples needed (sample size) to determine whether the SQI has changed to an extent where there are corresponding changes in soil quality. As there are different circumstances under which a SQI may be used, we evaluate sample sizes required for different spatial levels (e.g. plot, field, farm) and for a national assessment considering land use and climate. We also describe a general labour effort related to obtaining physical samples and their respective analytical costs.
- We evaluate alternative (proxy) measurements to the 7 candidate SQIs, either as some linear combination of existing soil measurements (denominated pedotransfer functions) or as readings from sensing systems which correlate with the SQI.

## 3.3 Statistical Background and Sample Size Calculations

The objective is to detect a change in a SQI and to do so we implemented a set of power analyses. Statistical power is the probability that a specific difference will be detected at a specified level of confidence. The statistical computation is further described and justified in the Work Package 2 report.

#### 3.3.1. Obtaining an estimate of the SQI variability.

Most of the physical SQIs considered here are highly dynamic in space and time, not least because they are sensitive to management inputs, as are the soil functions they are indicating. Given this variability and sensitivity, these changes in soil properties, processes and associated functions are better assessed using a randomized sampling design. It is this design that we will consider here, whilst noting that the sample sizes presented in the statistical power graphs would be smaller, if a paired sampling approach was considered (Lark, 2009). Even so, repeat sampling over time at exactly the same site/ location can be prone to error (for example, the precision of site location).

A further efficiency is introduced if we consider stratification by land use and soil type, because we have *a priori* grounds to expect that changes in SQIs may vary for different land use (e.g. arable v. pasture v. woodland) and soil types (e.g. shallow v. deep soils) (Hill et al., 2003). For example, a change in packing density will have different consequences on different land uses and on different soil

types. We investigated these relationships for those SQIs where we had the available data (i.e. packing density and soil depth).

We used a model based approach to obtain an estimate of the SQI variability. Here, we considered the spatial correlation of the SQI only, and obtained from this a model of the spatial correlation, or variation, denoted by a variogram (Figure 1). This approach allows us to consider the sampling requirements for estimating the change in an SQI over increasing areas, from the field scale upwards.

#### 3.3.2. Applicable analysis to candidate SQIs

The above discussion is predicated on the availability of appropriate data. This is different for the different SQIs we considered, so the level of analysis varies for each SQI.

#### Packing density

We had access to two large datasets, LandIS (containing data produced by the Soil Survey of England and Wales), which contains the representative profiles for England and Wales and contains approximately 1,250 measurements of bulk density and clay content; these were averaged over soil profiles. We supplemented this with data from ADAS (Defra project BD5001) which added a further 300 short range measurements of bulk density. From these data, we obtained a comprehensive data set for packing density and the variogram (Figure 2). We then obtained estimates of the dispersion variances for areas of increasing size of 5, 10, 25 and 50 km<sup>2</sup>. We also considered a random sampled stratified approach based on a set of stratum developed for Defra project SP1606 (Graves et al., 2011), in which soil and land use were combined to generate 'supra'-classifications of the soil / land use combinations in England and Wales.



# Figure 2. Variogram of Packing Density obtained from data from LandIS (NSRI, Cranfield University) and ADAS (Defra project BD5001).

**Soil Water Retention Characteristics.** A total of 2,480 soil profiles for which soil water retention data were available were extracted from the LandIS database. From these, and using hydrological models, the SQIs associated with soil water retention characteristics were derived. Pedo-transfer functions were calculated based on this dataset.

**Soil Depth.** The only adequate dataset available to us in this case is the LandIS dataset (Soil Survey of England and Wales). These data comprise profiles across England and Wales with depth measurements restricted to the top 150 cm in most sampled profiles. This means many data points do not represent accurately the full depth of soil. We therefore only considered those soils identified as 'shallow soils' in the soil survey, to avoid the unrealistic (truncated) soil depth data. Also, shallow soils are likely to be soils where functions may be compromised if depth changes. This gave 177 soil

profiles. Power analysis was based on a variance estimate from the stratified mixed model described above.

**Aggregate Stability**. There is no national dataset on aggregate stability. The most geographically extensive dataset we sourced was generated as part of Defra project SP0519: Critical levels of soil organic carbon in surface soils in relation to soil stability, function and infiltration, led by Professor Whitmore and Dr Chris Watts of Rothamsted Research. Data on aggregate stability on a range of soil types and land uses was obtained for a set of test sites across England. The power analysis was based on a variance estimate from the stratified mixed model described above.

**Rate of Erosion**. The statistical analysis and sampling design for monitoring the rate of erosion is comprehensively covered in Brazier et al. (2012) as part of Defra project SP1303 Developing a cost-effective framework for monitoring soil erosion in England and Wales. This includes power analyses based on variability of data on erosion rates at the national scale.

**Soil Sealing.** A classified satellite image can cover the entire area of interest, depending on the scale of survey and resolution of image required. As the area of interest is not sampled, power analysis is not appropriate here. We discuss here pixel size (sample support) and different satellite images that are available to determine sealing of soil and degree of imperviousness.

**Visual Soil Evaluation**. This is qualitative / semi quantitative assessment of soil quality and we discuss its suitability to monitor *change* in soil quality (not just the baseline soil quality), especially as many schemes are based on categorical (i.e. scores) rather than continuous data (i.e. absolute values as is given for packing density and depth of soil for example).

## 3.4 Summary of Fact Sheets (full details in Work Package 2 report)

## 3.4.1. Packing Density.

In this case we consider two approaches; one based on a set of stratum developed for Defra project SP1606 (Total Costs of Soil Degradation; Graves et al., 2011) in which soil, land use and climate are combined to generate 'supra'-classifications of the soils in England and Wales. If spatial and temporal variability in packing density was dependent on land use, soil type or climate, this implies a different sampling regime is required for different geographical areas if the monitoring is to be statistically robust. This exercise also explored whether meaningful changes in packing density (i.e. ones that reflected a change in soil processes and functioning) might be different for different land use / soil / climate combinations. In other words, would the functioning of arable soils with high clay content be more affected by a change in PD than woodland soils on sand? The results from the power analysis are shown in Figure 3 (national data) and Figure 4 (data at different spatial scales).

We also determined the sample size needed if a change is to be determined over areas of increasing size using a model based approach described earlier (geostatistics). Figure 4 shows that if we wish to determine a given change in PD for a given spatial area (field; 5 and 10 km<sup>2</sup>), farm (25 km<sup>2</sup>) and at the landscape level (50 km<sup>2</sup>) we increasingly need a larger sample size to determine this change within this spatial area. If we further consider factors which affect the spatial variability of PD such as land use, then this information will reduce the number of samples needed at the landscape scale.

#### 3.4.2. Soil Water Retention Characteristics.

The relevant data available consisted of volumetric moisture content measured at pressure heads (expressed in water height equivalents) of 0.5, 1, 4, 20 and 150 m. In addition, total porosity (derived from measured bulk density and particle density) was used as an approximation of the moisture content at saturation,  $\theta_{sat}$  (= 0m pressure head). For each soil, the water retention function represented by the Van Genuchten equation was fitted to the data using  $\theta$ *res*,  $\alpha$  and n as fitting parameters. The Dexter's S index was calculated using the fitted parameters and converted into S<sub>g</sub> using Eq. 6.  $\theta_{sat}$ , estimated from the porosity,  $\theta_{fc}$  (measured at both 0.5 and 1m pressure head) and  $\theta_{PWP}$  (measured at 150m pressure head) were used to calculate the indicators: plant available water capacity (PAWC), air capacity (AC; or drainable porosity) and relative field capacity (RFC). It was not possible to calculate macroporosity (M) because measurements of the moisture content,  $\theta_m$  (occurring at 0.1m pressure head) were not given.

#### Assessment of pedotransfer functions

BD, texture (clay, silt and sand content) and organic C content are available for the same soils in the LandIS database. Two types of pedotransfer functions (PTFs) were considered and discussed in Work Package 2 report. Results of this analysis are shown in Tables 3 and 4 and in Figure 5.



Figure 3. Results from the power analysis based on land use by soil strata. The insert shows the spatial distribution of the data points superimposed on the land use /soil classification (see Defra project SP1606 for details regarding the stratification).

Table 3. Soil Water Retention Characteristics: Fit results from pedotransfer functions bas	sed
on LandIS data (BD, Clay, Silt and Sand and Organic C content)	

	g		ď		Drainable Porosity		Plant Ava	ailable	Relative F	ield
	RSQ	conc	RSQ	conc	RSQ	conc	RSQ	conc	RSQ	conc
		к		к		к		к		к
multiple regression	0.56	0.73	0.82	0.85	0.53	0.65	0.58	0.72	0.61	0.78
Multivariate Adaptive Regression Splines (MARS)	0.72	0.75	0.87	0.9	0.71	0.08	0.68	0.82	0.73	0.85

 $RSQ = R^2$  statistic; conc R = concordance correlation



Figure 4. Power analysis using a model based approach in which the variation of different regions (size of spatial unit) is obtained from the spatial correlative structure (variogram in Figure 2)

	Sv	Sg	Drainable Porosity	Plant Available Water	Relative Field Capacity
BULK DENSITY	2	2	2	2	2
CLAY	3	2	2	2	1
SILT	0	1	0	2	2
SAND	1	2	2	2	2
ORGANIC_CARBON	1	2	1	3	1
LU_GROUP	0	0	0	0	0
SUBGROUP	1	1	4	1	3
SERIES	4	4	2	3	2

 Table 4. Variable importance in Multivariate Adaptive Regression Splines fitting. Numbers refer

 to rankings of importance

In summary, we can obtain adequate performance ( $R^2$  of 0.5 to 06) if we use standard regression approaches. This is significantly improved with Multivariate Adaptive Regression Splines (MARS)

using data which are available for England and Wales ( $R^2 > 0.8$ ; Table 3). It is therefore feasible to derive Soil Water Retention Characteristics SQIs using PTFs based on bulk density, texture and organic C measurements. In Defra project SP1305 (Subproject B), the sampling requirement, under different sampling regimes, is considered for BD and organic C, and the report suggests that for a plot of 20 by 20 m, 25 aggregated samples would be required. This is indicative of the sampling effort needed to determine the input data for the PTFs.

#### 3.4.3 Aggregate Stability

Only very limited datasets exist to assess aggregate stability across different land uses and soils at the national scale (England and Wales) (Thompson and Peccol, 1995; Merrington et al., 2006). However, Defra project SP0519 (Critical levels of soil organic carbon in surface soils in relation to soil stability, function and infiltration) used measurements of aggregate stability to describe and rank the likely behaviour of soil under the influence of rain. A number of simple aggregate stability tests were designed to allow rapid screening of a relatively large number of representative soil type / land use combinations in terms of their susceptibility to aggregate breakdown. The database showed measurements of aggregate stability are capable of discriminating between different soil types and management practices (Chris Watts, pers.comm.). These relationships are under investigation currently. General relationships between aggregate stability and measurements of a wide range of key physical and chemical soil properties were deduced, including easily-measurable soil properties such as organic carbon and clay content. The resultant database was made available to the current project by Dr. Chris Watts and Prof. Andy Whitmore of BBSRC Rothamsted Research. However, as the authors of that work point out, the data generated from the field experiments was limited, in terms of geographical distribution, environmental conditions, simulated plot scale and replication.

One major challenge is extrapolating results from the individual aggregate scale to larger spatial scales at which related soil processes (e.g. infiltration, runoff generation, erosion) and soil functions (e.g. provisioning) take place. For example, from these data, relationships between aggregate stability (as measured by the 3 different methods used) and surface runoff, through flow and erosion appear to be very weak or non-existent (for example, Figure 6 shows the relationship between aggregate stability and runoff; others are shown in Work Package 2 report). Therefore currently there is no evidence that aggregate stability is an effective SQI of the water regulation function.



Figure 5. Biplots representing the predicted SQI versus observed SQI based on the MARS pedotransfer functions. Note SVI in these graphs refers to S<sub>v</sub> and Dexter S refers to S<sub>g</sub>



Figure 6. Biplot and linear fit between % Runoff and aggregate stability. Data from Defra project SP0519 (Critical levels of soil organic carbon in surface soils in relation to soil stability, function and infiltration). Experimental details can be found in the SP0519 project report.

#### Power analysis and sampling size.

For aggregate stability, the power analysis is based on data obtained from the Defra project SP0519 in which aggregate fractions were associated with degrees of stability (very unstable, unstable, medium, stable and very stable, which are taken as qualitative categories of aggregate stability; Table 5). Three types of aggregate stability test were considered using various wetting conditions and energies (fast wetting (AS fast); slow wetting (AS slow); and mechanical energy applied after pre-wetting (AS mechanical). The power analysis is based on the differences between these categories (Figure 7). The high variability in aggregate stability as reported in the literature suggests a very high sampling intensity is required to detect changes in space and time.

Table 5. Classification of aggregate stability based on mean weight diameter (MWD; after Le Bissonnais, 1996)

MWD 0.4 mm	Very Unstable	
MWD 0.4 - 0.8 mm	Unstable	
MWD 0.8 - 1.3 mm	Medium	
MWD 1.3 - 2.0 mm	Stable	
MWD >2.0 mm	Very Stable	



Figure 7. Power analysis of three different measurement techniques to determine aggregate stability. Data from Defra project SP0519 (Critical levels of soil organic carbon in surface soils in relation to soil stability, function and infiltration).

#### 3.4.4. Rate of Erosion

Defra project SP1303 (Brazier et al., 2012) noted that whilst there has been a great deal of erosion monitoring in the UK historically, it has not been placed within an unbiased sampling framework. The project proposed a sampling design for a cost-effective, national erosion monitoring scheme. It should be noted that the data used in the analysis were drawn only from more erodible (cultivated) land use types, as they were the only available data to investigate water erosion over time. As similar datasets do not exist for gross erosion from all pathways (water, wind, tillage and soil loss by co-extraction with harvested crops), this analysis could not be performed at this level of detail. Brazier et al. (2012) note that in the future should these datasets become available, such analysis could be undertaken.

	Power (p=0.05) to detect specified change						
		Simple Ra	andom Samp	oling			
Total Sample Size	0.1	0.25	0.5	0.75	1		
50	0.05	0.1	0.22	0.38	0.53		
100	0.06	0.15	0.4	0.65	0.83		
150	0.07	0.21	0.55	0.82	0.94		
200	0.08	0.26	0.67	0.91	0.98		
250	0.09	0.32	0.77	0.96	1		
300	0.1	0.37	0.84	0.98	1		
350	0.11	0.42	0.89	0.99	1		

Table 6. Results of the power analyses to detect specified change; 0.1 is 10% and 1 is 100% (from Defra Project SP1303 Final report)

400	0.12	0.46	0.93	1	1
500	0.14	0.55	0.97	1	1
600	0.16	0.63	0.99	1	1
700	0.18	0.7	0.99	1	1
800	0.2	0.75	1	1	1
900	0.22	0.8	1	1	1
1000	0.24	0.84	1	1	1

According to Brazier et al. (2012), a common target power is 80%. The results show that a total sample of 300 would be adequate to achieve this power to detect a 50% increase in erosion rate (two-date comparison). Between 900 and 1000 samples would be needed to detect a 25% increase with the same power. A 10% increase is not detectable as a two-year comparison with 1000 samples, and clearly many more would be needed.

In any case, what constitutes a meaningful change in erosion rates still requires data on the impacts of erosion on soil functions in England and Wales, and will be dependent on highly variable factors such as specific crop (rooting habit, crop demands - water, nutrients); soil properties (water holding capacity; nutrient status) and external inputs (manufactured fertilisers; irrigation).

Monitoring soil erosion by remote sensing (satellite, airborne or ground based) assumes erosion features produce detectable changes in the electromagnetic radiation recorded by the remote sensor (Milton and Webb, 1987; Milton et al., 1995), which must be distinguishable from radiometric distortions arising from the sensor (Collins and Walling, 2004). At present, most small scale monitoring (e.g. using satellite imagery) is at odds with the spatial scale of erosion processes, local risk factors and mitigation measures. The new generation of sensors such as IKONOS may be more suitable, with spatial resolutions appropriate for erosion studies (e.g. <4 m). Remote sensing shows great potential for erosion monitoring, but image processing algorithms have to be better at considering pixel-to-pixel interactions (Dr. Karen Anderson, Exeter University, pers.comm.).

#### 3.4.5. Depth of soil

Detecting changes in soil depth over space and time poses a number of challenges to monitoring, which must take into account any uncertainty in measurement; variability in observed distributions; expected rate of change; and spatial variability. Monitoring soil depth is further complicated, because definition of 'depth of soil' is debatable (for example, see distinction of 'critical' and 'effective' soil depth in Work Package 2 report).

#### Power analysis and sampling size.

In the case of soil depth as a potential SQI, we restricted our analysis to consider a particular stratum or type of soil which is vulnerable to changes in soil depth i.e. those which are denoted as shallow soils in LandIS (Soil Survey of England and Wales). This also allows for the fact that data come from a depth limitation of 150cm in the original survey. We obtain the measure of spatial variability in depth from the soil profile database and use this to calculate the sample numbers required to determine a change in soil depth. The results from the power analysis are represented in Figure 8, which also shows the spatial coverage of the shallow soils in England and Wales.

#### 3.4.6. Soil Sealing

Over time, monitoring the change in the proportion of sealed soils will allow assessment of changes in soil functions. For example, the water regulating function of soil is lost by surface sealing. This increases flood risk due to higher runoff coefficients from paved surfaces. The extent of the built environment can be estimated from high resolution satellite imagery (<1 m ground resolution) and aerial photography. Both are capable of including narrow corridors, such as road and rail systems, as well as providing accurate estimates of residual soil areas within the built environment. The utility of remote sensing data can be improved through integration with other datasets, e.g. OS MasterMap or soil maps, enabling sealed or unsealed areas to be resolved at a finer spatial scale. However, as reported in Wood et al (2005), there



are few quantified data demonstrating the effect of soil sealing on soil function, which limits detailed analysis of data.

#### Figure 8. Results from the power analysis for shallow soils in England and Wales. Insert shows the spatial coverage of the data points i.e. the distribution of shallow soils. Note that the y-axis is on a logarithmic scale

#### 3.4.7. Visual Soil Evaluation

The main objective of visual soil evaluation (VSE) is to assess the effects of cultural operations on soil structure looking at the intrinsic quality of the soil. Visual soil evaluation (VSE) is based on the qualitative or semi-quantitative evaluation of soil properties and SQIs e.g. morphological, physical, biological and chemical, which are visible or possible to distinguish without laboratory analysis (Houšková, 2005). VSE is used to assess soil quality by comparing the state of the soil against a reference sample (i.e. either a photograph or a soil sample known to be in optimal condition). For example, the New Zealand Visual Soil Assessment (VSA (NZ)) method (Shepherd, 2008) considers soil texture, soil structure, soil porosity, soil colour, number and colour of soil mottles, earthworm (number and size), rooting depth, surface ponding, surface crusting/cover and soil erosion (wind/water).

One criticism of VSE techniques is the challenge of quantifying the findings, thereby providing comparable data in space and time (which is essential for an effective monitoring programme). However, a number of studies have linked VSE findings to quantifiable soil properties. Also, the scores for a number of VSE methods have been found to be significantly correlated to corresponding lab-based methods (e.g. Shepherd et al., 2002; reported in Boizard et al., 2005; Mueller et al., 2009a; 2009b; Figure 9). In the evaluation by Boizard et al. (2005) the Peerlkamp method was the only one with a sufficient number of results to enable a statistical evaluation to be made of the differences between the topsoil structure of the plots. However, the number of replicate samples depends on the time allowed to undertake the analysis.

Mueller et al. (2012) found that compaction status of soils with clay contents > 30% could not be reliably determined either by dry bulk density measurements or penetrometer readings. However, they found that visual observations could determine structural differences in these soils.



Figure 9. Correlation between Peerlkamp score and relative dry bulk density (taken from Mueller et al., 2009a)

Another uncertainty surrounding VSE outcomes is the continuity in results between different surveyors / monitors (reliability). The VSA (NZ) method has been validated as a robust method whereby laypeople with little or no background in soil science could use the method and come up with similar answers to an 'expert' (Figure 10; Boizard et al., 2005).



Figure 10. VSA of the condition of 12 soils under arable cropping – A comparison of 'expert' and workshop participant rankings (taken from Boizard et al., 2005).

It is now recognised that the use of good reference material (e.g. photographs) in combination with well-defined descriptions of several soil properties, which can be used to assign a soil structural quality score, provides a more robust and consistent classification system that enhances the reproducibility of the results (Mueller et al., 2012). While the reproducibility of visual features can be, to some extent, aided by good visual reference material, the reproducibility of tactile observations (e.g. soil texture) is more dependent on subjective descriptions. However, Hodgson et al. (1976) demonstrated that with experience and the use of reference material against which observers can 'calibrate' themselves, it is possible to

produce a confident estimate of soil texture for a wide range of soils. In their study, they found that 76% of the variation in field estimates of silt content and 85% of the variation of clay estimates could be predicted by hand texturing.

In summary, semi-quantitative VSE methods provide a value or description against which temporal changes in score and rankings (the proportion of soils in 'good', 'moderate' or 'poor' condition) can be gauged and that can be recorded as an on-going reference. The logistics and practicalities of carrying out VSE are discussed in the Work Package 2 report.

#### 3.5 Integration of physical SQIs

Each candidate physical SQI was considered independently, but we also considered the relationships between the candidate SQIs. There is evidence that combining the measurements of physical (and biological and chemical) SQIs improves the relationship between the SQIs, soil processes and soil functions. In justifying the use of bulk density / packing density as a meaningful SQI (WP1), we are aware of empirical evidence suggesting better prediction of air capacity by combining bulk density and clay content (i.e. packing density) (Figure 12).



# Figure 12. Improving the relationship between air capacity and measures of bulk / packing density (from Huber et al., 2008)

A similar exercise was done here where data were available (i.e. PD, BD, aggregate stability and depth), with the *a priori* reasoning that a number of the physical SQIs would be interdependent and therefore exhibit spatial clustering. However, the resulting cluster analysis of the data showed no spatial patterns which reflects the complexity of relationships between the SQIs and paucity of data. In any case, any relationship between the parameters would have to be expressed in terms of soil processes and functions for it to be meaningful.

This project has been focussed on physical properties as soil quality indicators, without explicit reference to biological or chemical SQIs. According to Karlen et al. (2003) and Arshad and Martin (2002), soil quality assessment must reflect biological, chemical and physical properties, processes and their interactions (Table 7). Taking this more holistic view, Karlen et al. (1997) note the interdependence among SQIs and that the concept of soil quality should be "an umbrella concept for examining and integrating relationships and functions among various biological, chemical and physical parameters that are measured and important for sustainable agricultural and environmental systems." They suggest that "field, farm and watershed-scale evaluations of soil quality require a transition from an experimental mode that contributes to an understanding of soil quality to more interdisciplinary approaches".

Table 7. Interrelationships of Key son quality indicators (Arshau and Martin, 2002).			
Selected indicator	Other soil quality indicators affecting the selected indicator		
Aggregation	Organic matter, microbial activity (especially fungal), texture		
Infiltration	Organic matter, aggregation, electrical conductivity,		
	exchangeable sodium percentage		

## Table 7. Interrelationships of key soil quality indicators (Arshad and Martin, 2002)

Bulk density	Organic matter, aggregation, topsoil depth, electrical conductivity, biological activity
Microbial biomass and / or respiration	Organic matter, aggregation, bulk density, pH, texture, electrical conductivity
Available nutrients	Organic matter, pH, topsoil depth, texture, microbial parameters (mineralisation and immobilisation rates)

These interrelationships have been demonstrated above in section 3.5.2. and in Fact Sheet 2, Work Package 2 Report (Soil water retention characteristics), where basic soil properties (bulk density, texture and organic C) were used to predict soil water retention characteristics (Dexter's S, drainable porosity, plant available water and relative field capacity) through pedotransfer functions. Even so, we need to relate these relationships to soil processes and functions. Shukla *et al.* (2004) carried out step-wise regression analysis with corn grain yield as the dependent variable and measured soil attributes as the independent variables (Table 8).

Table 8. Linear regression analysis for total dry corn grain yield (Yg, Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>) as dependent variable and measured soil attributes as independent variables (P<0.009)

	Equation	R⁴		
One parameter model				
	Y <sub>g</sub> = 3.753 + 0.007 WSA	0.33		
Two parameter model	Y <sub>g</sub> = 3.717 2 0.424 AWC + 0.008 WSA	0.34		
	Y <sub>g</sub> = 3.353 10.009 WSA – 0.422 MWD	0.34		
	Y <sub>g</sub> = 14.321 + 0.006 WSA – 1.435 pH	0.34		
Three parameter	Y <sub>g</sub> = 23.569 + 0.009 WSA – 0.906 MWD – 2.808 pH	0.37		
model				
	Y <sub>g</sub> = 24.061 + 0.007 WSA – 2.809 pH – 2.449 EC	0.36		
where: AWC – available water (cm); WSA – water stable aggregates (g kg <sup>-1</sup> ); MWD – mean				
weight diameter (mm); EC – electrical conductivity (dS m <sup>-1</sup> )				

The criticism with this approach is that a) regressions give no explanation of why combining these soil properties improves prediction of soil functioning (here, yield); b) the relationships and equations would vary for different soil functions (e.g. provisioning v. regulation); c) there are few equivalent data for England and Wales linking soil attributes (i.e. physical SQIs) to soil functions; d) this approach takes no account / makes no allowance of how a change in one or more attributes over time (which is at the core of a soil monitoring programme) may change the interrelationships between soil attributes; e) the current England and Wales database on physical soil attributes is too limited and contains too much variability to derive rigorous regression equations. In any case, the resulting R<sup>2</sup>s (i.e. the degree of variation accounted for) in Table 8 are low.

It has been demonstrated that for statistical rigour, the sampling design of each SQI is based on the detectable / meaningful change in that property (i.e. power analysis). As a result, different SQIs will require different sampling designs, which undermines the concept of having multiple, integrative SQIs, unless the largest sampling size is taken for all. Given the cost implications, we conclude it is impossible to design and implement a rigorous sampling scheme for multiple SQIs. Another limitation of integrative SQIs is error propagation when using more than one SQI. Error in one or more input variables (e.g. measurement / sampling error) means the resulting integrative SQI may not be robust (Murray Lark, pers.comm.).

#### 3.6 Conclusions to Data Analysis and Modelling

Data on the physical SQIs selected by the logical sieve process in WP1 are limited in spatial and temporal extent for England and Wales. This has limited the degree of analysis and modelling. Where data are available, power analysis was used to understand the variability of the indicator as given by the observed distributions. This process determines the SQIs ability to detect a particular change at a particular confidence level, given the 'noise' or variability in

the data (i.e. a particular power to detect a change of 'X' at a confidence level of 'Y%' would require 'N' samples).

The paucity in data has limited the specification of a robust sampling design required to detect changes in the SQI that are associated with a meaningful change in any soil process and/or function. In any case, there is little scientific evidence to define what is meant by a 'meaningful change' in any given SQI and this will vary for different soil types, land covers and soil functions. Attempts were made to stratify detectable changes in packing density and soil depth by land cover and soil type, but no relationships were found. If this had been the case, we would need to relate these changes to associated changes in soil processes and soil functions, but the evidence base is very weak to do this. Schipper and Sparling (2000) identify the challenge: "a standardised methodology may not be appropriate to apply across contrasting soils and land uses. However, it is not practical to optimise sampling and analytical techniques for each soil and land use for extensive sampling on a national scale".

Soil hydrological relationships are key to soil functioning, especially in water regulation (availability to plants and avoidance of both flooding and drought; Merrington et al., 2006). Here, the analysis of available data gave promising results regarding the prediction of SQI values from easy to measure soil properties (bulk density, texture and organic C), using pedotransfer functions. These measurements also allow estimates of packing density which are also related to soil hydrological properties (e.g. air capacity; Huber et al., 2008). Expanding the evidence base (space and time) should be possible with the development and use of rapid, cost-effective techniques using NIR sensors to gain measurements of bulk density, texture and packing density.

More evidence is needed as to how aggregate stability affects soil processes and thus soil functions. We have found an equivocal relationship with water regulation (runoff generation), but this was affected by the method of measurement (low or rapid wetting or mechanical disturbance of the aggregates) for example. There are insufficient data to assess a 'meaningful' change in aggregate stability i.e. how a change in that property affects processes and thus functions. Gathering such data would rely on better, more cost-effective, standardised measurement techniques.

Defra project SP1303 (Brazier et al., 2012) used power analyses to estimate the number of monitoring locations required to detect a statistically significant change in soil erosion rate on cultivated land. On the basis of this analysis, the project proposed a cost-effective framework to monitor (and model) soil erosion in England and Wales, with an emphasis on constructing a statistically sound approach to locating sampling sites for soil erosion monitoring. However, what constitutes a meaningful change in erosion rate still requires data on the impacts of erosion on soil functions.

At present there is insufficient quantified evidence for statistical rigour to be applied in determining a sampling strategy for visual soil evaluations. Although, some studies have begun to investigate how VSE might be moved to a quantified scale. The use of remote sensing to detect changes in surface sealing has potential, although the spectral signatures received are not direct measurements of soil quality in terms of physical properties and their influence on soil processes and functions. Wood et al. (2004) notes that in general, remote sensing techniques are most useful when considering indicators that relate to soil quantity. These techniques have limited utility for those indicators that relate to soil condition (quality). In any case, as reported in Wood et al (2005), there are few quantified data demonstrating the effect of soil sealing on soil function, which limits detailed analysis of data.

The evidence base is poor: data on meaningful (i.e. what degree of change affects soil processes and functions) and detectable (i.e. what sample size is needed to detect the meaningful signal from the variability or noise in the signal) changes in physical SQIs are lacking at present to underpin the development of a rigorous and reliable soil monitoring programme.

#### 4. SYNTHESIS AND POLICY IMPLICATIONS (details in Work Package 3 report)

Soil policy should be demonstrably effective. This requires that indicators are available that can reliably measure progress towards targets linked to policy objectives that are either directly related to intended policy outcomes or that allow interpretation of progress towards them.

## 4.1 Policy background and drivers

Physical SQIs are important data for decision-making because they are indicators of the physical functioning of the soil that supports services including plant growth for food production, attenuation of water flows in catchments to reduce flood risks and retention of water for periods of drought. The following issues are strongly linked to the monitoring of physical SQIs (see Work Package 3 report for details):

- Food security is an increasingly important policy issue (see Foresight, 2011; Global Food Security strategic plan 2011-2016 (2011), requiring better protection for agricultural soils
- Expansion of the built environment and the performance of residual soil resources in the built environment, such as their capacity to attenuate surface water flows and reduce risk of flooding.
- Climate change adaptation in terms of food production (yield and quality of produce), land use change, flood prevention and drought tolerance. This includes protecting and enhancing stores of soil carbon
- Future energy requirements may also impact on soil quality
- Bio-security is a persistent policy issue of high priority. Soil can act as a reservoir and transport media for pathogens, including E coli O157, cryptosporidium and prions. Understanding how pathogens are dispersed from sources to receptors requires information about how the pathogen is partitioned between water and soil and then how the soil landscape responds to infiltration or the mobilisation of sediment through soil erosion.

#### 4.2 Current policy

There is a substantial body of policy in place that is aimed at safeguarding UK soil resources, supported by a range of implemented policy measures, as well as policy aimed at addressing other issues but which requires soil-related actions. Notably, the European Thematic Strategy for the Protection of Soil (EC, 2006) which identifies a range of threats to soil resources, including erosion, decline in soil organic matter and compaction. The Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) takes account of the Thematic Strategy through the inclusion of mandatory soil management requirements under Cross Compliance linked to Single Farm Payments and via Agri-Environment Schemes (including Environmental Stewardship) under national Rural Development Plans. Cross Compliance requirements, codified within definitions of good agricultural and environmental condition (GAEC) include measures to control erosion and compaction and therefore their efficacy should be supported by physical SQIs.

Inevitably, the European Commission will seek more information on the status and trends in soil quality, including in relation to compaction. The revision / extension of cross-compliance requirements in the new CAP agreement is expected to include strengthening of soil protection measures. This will require monitoring to demonstrate that these measures are effective, including the mitigation of soil degradation processes. Therefore indicators relevant to compaction and erosion will become increasingly important.

Policies driven by the Water Framework Directive (WFD) consider the importance of land and soil management on surface water quality, storm flows and aquifer re-charge. Monitoring schemes are needed to target, implement and evaluate the success of these policies. Physical SQIs that relate to changes in infiltration (soil water retention characteristics), runoff (packing density and soil sealing) and erosion (rate of erosion and aggregate stability) will be important in this evaluation. Rate of soil erosion, aggregate stability, water retention characteristics and packing density will also be important in model based predictions used to inform transfer of contaminants attached to soil particles and sources of diffuse pollution of surface water.

At the national level, a number of overarching policy statements have been published, including:

- The Natural Environment White Paper, The Natural Choice (Defra, 2011a)
- The Scottish Soil Framework (Donelley, 2009)
- Welsh Soil Action Plan (WAG, 2008a)

The relevance of physical SQIs monitoring to the above policy statements is discussed in the Work Package 3 report.

#### 4.3 Evaluation of policy relevance of physical SQIs

As demonstrated in the Work Package 3 report, physical SQIs are highly relevant to a wide range of existing and emergent policy issues of importance. This suggests that the absence of agreed and well-defined SQIs is likely to be a barrier to policy development and its subsequent implementation.

All 7 candidate indicators from WP2 provide useful information about soil conditions but they vary in the ease with which the information can be interpreted. The relationship between physical (and other) SQIs and soil functional performance and how this influences ecosystem services' delivery is complex and important gaps remain in even the realisation of a conceptual model for these inter-relationships let alone their quantification (Figure 13). The underpinning processes for delivery of some ecosystem services are better understood than for others.

It is possible to interpret physical SQIs such as bulk density with provisioning and regulation services. However, it is more difficult to relate qualitative visual soil evaluation with rates of ecosystem service delivery. This suggests that the selection of priority physical SQIs should exclude from a national monitoring scheme those physical SQIs that do not have an established role in the parameterisation of mechanistic models of ecosystem services delivery. Otherwise such SQIs are likely to be ineffective for assessing achievement of soil policy outcomes i.e. changes in the performance of soil as a supporting medium for ecosystem services. On the other hand, this also raises the question of whether individual quantitative SQI can completely be related to ecosystem services, given the number of variables.



#### Figure 13. Interaction of soil policy, soil resources and ecosystem services

# 4.4. Exploring whether physical SQIs could be incorporated into soil monitoring frameworks at the national scale.

In this section, we consider how a soil monitoring programme that includes one or more of the candidate physical SQIs identified in WP2 might be implemented. A number of international monitoring programmes are reviewed in the Work Package 3 report to demonstrate how

physical SQIs are incorporated into national monitoring schemes elsewhere. In the UK a number of monitoring schemes exist (full analysis is given in Work Package 3 report):

- The Countryside Survey
- The National Soil Inventory (NSI)
- Environmental Change Network (ECN; <u>http://www.ecn.ac.uk/</u>)
- Intensive Monitoring of Forest Ecosystems in the UK
- Geochemical Baseline Survey of the Environments (G-BASE)

#### 4.4.1. Choosing a monitoring scheme

How samples are collected will impact on the way in which the information can be used. For example, gridded sampling enables unbiased estimates, while stratified sampling introduce a form of bias because these sites are selected due to an underlying preference. Stratified sampling is often established with a predetermined question in mind, but as a consequence may be a less effective sample design if the question changes in the future. Gridded systems are not established with any predetermined question and therefore are more versatile if the question changes at some future point. The use of gridded sampling is an efficient way to ensure spatial coverage. However, this approach may not be as efficient at sampling extreme values. Stratified sampling may be effective at determining extreme values, as it can be focussed within areas where such values are expected (e.g. erosion monitoring is only targeted at soils / land use combinations known to erode; see Defra project SP1303, Brazier et al., 2012).

The frequency with which samples are collected also varies between monitoring schemes. The most commonly used sampling interval is 5 years although it is recognised that sampling interval will be dependent on the parameter being measured and the size of anticipated, measured or meaningful changes. This relates to the 'signal to noise' ratios for each SQI. This reflects the difficulty in measuring changes in soil status due to the high spatial and temporal variation in rates of change in soil properties. Also, these changes may be out of time with any soil policy change. This presents challenges in ascertaining trends that can feed into policy development or be used to gauge the effectiveness of soil protection policies.

In exploring possible options for monitoring physical SQIs in the future, the following have been considered (See Work Package 3 report for details):

1. Devise a national monitoring scheme based on the physical SQIs discussed in Work Package 2.

The design of a scientifically and statistically robust monitoring scheme, based on power analyses is discussed in the Work Package 2 report. Variability in the data and the magnitude of detectable change in the SQI that reflects a meaningful change in soil function will determine sample size. But these relationships are different for the different candidate SQIs, as reported in the Work Package 2 report. Also, the main hindrance in setting up such a scheme is the uncertainty regarding when the change in the value of the SQI represents a meaningful and significant change in soil function (i.e. the reliability of the SQI). Analysis of the limited data / literature available suggests different SQIs will require different sampling strategies. Also, for any given SQI, the sampling strategy might vary with land use, climate and the soil function in question. It is unlikely that a standardized methodology would be appropriate across contrasting soils and land uses. One approach could be to take the largest sample size suggested by the power analysis, and apply this to all SQIs being considered, which would represent over-design in the rest of the SQIs. Schipper and Sparling (2000) argue that it is not practical to optimize sampling and analytical techniques for each soil and land use for extensive sampling on a national scale. There would be substantial set up, surveying and analytical costs associated with such a scheme too.

2. Add physical SQIs to current suite of SQIs measured in the Countryside Survey (CS). The Countryside Survey has been carried out at regular intervals since 1978 and includes the measurement and monitoring of a number of SQIs. Bulk density is the only physical SQI included in the dataset currently, but this could be expanded to include texture (% clay content) for estimates of packing density, as well as other point-sampled physical SQIs (i.e.

soil water retention characteristics, aggregate stability, depth, sealing and visual soil evaluation). The justification of this option would include:

- The relatively low cost of making additional measurements as part of an established survey.
- Physical SQIs could be integrated with biological and chemical SQIs already measured at CS sites.
- Data are available from previous surveys to capture changes over time (monitoring)
- According to the Defra Evidence Plan, soil monitoring is currently "aligned with the Countryside Survey but requires further development in order to address specific policy needs. Development of indicators for soil monitoring has been taking place over recent years and the final piece of work needs to be done to design what an enhanced soils package for Countryside Survey would look like. This will need to be done before the next round of Countryside Survey, and in the context of possible developments in the future shape of Countryside Survey."

The drawbacks of this option would include:

- Limited number of sites (629) which may not be sufficient to detect meaningful change in one or more of the physical SQIs (the adequacy of the sample size will depend on a) what a 'meaningful' change is in terms of signal to noise ratio (variability) and b) how a change in any given soil property indicates a change in soil functioning)
- Sampling regime is based on a stratified sample, to ensure that all major land covers and habitat types are represented.
- The survey was not designed to monitor physical SQIs per se.
- According to the Defra Soils Evidence Plan (2011b) "any future Countryside Survey would be at risk without funding from Defra and / or the Natural Environmental Research Council (NERC). In addition, the soil component of the survey is dependent on the nature of the survey. For example, the use of non-expert volunteers to collect samples."

#### 3. National Soil Inventory (NSI) resampling

The original NSI represented over 6000 sites on a gridded sampling regime. The justification for resampling any number of these sites would include:

- The national scale coverage is unbiased
- It represents the greatest density of soil survey sites
- The number of sites would enable changes to be detected more reliably than where fewer sites are used.
- The gridded survey means the results can be used whatever the policy question being asked (unlike a stratified survey)
- The gridded survey means resurveying only a subsample of the original 6217 sites would still ensure national coverage
- Data are available from both the original and resurveyed sites to capture changes over time (monitoring)
- Soil data can be linked with additional data held in LandIS, such as Hydrology of Soil Type (HOST), flood vulnerability, runoff risk, soil hydrological information and available water content

The drawbacks of this option would include:

- No planned resampling of NSI
- Gridded sampling may not represent all land use / soil type combinations. It may underor over-represent some. So, depending on the policy question being asked, resampling may require stratification.
- Costs of resampling
- The survey was not designed to monitor physical SQIs per se.

# 4.5. Conclusion to WP3 - Selection of suitable physical soil quality indicators (SQIs) to be used for soil monitoring in England and Wales

Seven physical SQIs have been identified that can be related to soil processes, soil functions and delivery of ecosystem goods and services. As such, all SQIs have direct relevance to current and likely future soil and environmental policy. However, soil properties are influenced by many factors and it is not usually possible to link particular changes to particular policy activities. The relationship between physical (and other) SQIs and soil functional performance and how this influences ecosystem services' delivery is complex and important gaps remain in even the realisation of a conceptual model for these inter-relationships let alone their quantification. Soil monitoring can be used to determine the overall effectiveness of soils policies in reducing soil degradation, even if it cannot be used to evaluate the effectiveness of individual measures.

Meaningful and detectable changes in physical SQIs may be out of time with any soil policy change. This presents challenges in ascertaining trends that can feed into policy development or be used to gauge the effectiveness of soil protection policies.

Soil monitoring programmes should be tailored to available resources. Whether existing monitoring programmes can be adapted to incorporate additional measurement of physical SQIs should be explored.

## **5. PROJECT CONCLUSIONS**

#### 5.1 The logical sieve approach

The physical SQIs defined by Loveland and Thompson (2002) and subsequently evaluated by Merrington et al. (2006), were revisited in the light of new scientific evidence, SQI selection criteria, sampling techniques and monitoring methodologies. A logical sieve (Ritz et al., 2009) was used as a decision-support tool to identify a prioritised list of potential SQIs, based on a formalised method for assessing the relative strengths, weaknesses and suitability of each indicator for national scale soil monitoring (Black et al., 2008).

The logical sieve is flexible to accommodate the agenda of a range of stakeholders. New challenge criteria (e.g. policy relevance) can be added as they arise. As the output of the logical sieve is determined by the questions being asked of it, and by the weightings (if any) ascribed to different components of the sieve (e.g. the provisioning function is given more importance / weighting than the cultural function), it does not produce an unequivocal and definitive list of meaningful physical SQIs. Whilst this could be seen as a flaw in the approach, it helps demonstrate that there is no one definitive answer to the question "what is a meaningful physical SQI?". As Sojka and Upchurch (1999) point out "It is quite possible that a single, affordable, workable soil quality index is unachievable". Different consensus arises as to which physical SQIs are most appropriate, because of the different definitions of the role and function of the soil system as brought about by multiple users with different agenda.

By emphasising the current key soil functions (i.e. provisioning and regulating), 18 candidate physical SQIs were identified. This list was further reduced to seven SQIs on the basis of the scientific evidence, duplications, overlaps and doubles counting (Table 9). Justification for selecting these SQIs has been restricted to qualitative (narrative) information, or at best, limited empirical data. All can be related to soil processes, soil functions and delivery of ecosystem goods and services and thus have direct relevance to current and likely future soil and environmental policy. Of the seven SQIs, soil depth and surface sealing are regarded by many as indicators of soil quantity rather than quality. VSE is not suited to soil monitoring in the strictest sense, as its semi-qualitative basis cannot be analysed statistically. Bulk/packing density, aggregate stability and soil water retention characteristics can be sampled at a point; rate of erosion requires a larger sampling support.

## Table 9. Summary of candidate physical SQIs

Physical SQI	Positives	Limitations
Bulk density / packing density	<ul> <li>Already part of the Minimum Data Set (Robinson et al., 2010) and measured in the Countryside Survey and derived by</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Limited monitoring (change) data to date.</li> <li>Power analysis shows the</li> </ul>
	pedotransfer function in NSI national soil	number of samples needed to

	<ul> <li>inventories.</li> <li>New methodologies (e.g. NIR sensing) show promise for rapid, cost effective measurements.</li> <li>Pedotransfer functions can be used to estimate packing density from easy to measure soil properties (bulk density, texture and organic C)</li> <li>As a measure of compaction, links directly with soil degradation process (Thematic Strategy for Soil Protection).</li> </ul>	detect a change, but it is not known what change is significant in terms of affecting soil processes and functions. Significant change will vary for different soils / land uses / function.
Soil water retention characteristics	<ul> <li>Soil hydrological relationships are key to soil functioning, especially in water regulation (availability to plants and avoidance of both flooding and drought).</li> <li>Analysis of available data has given promising results regarding the prediction of values of SQIs from easy to measure soil properties (bulk density, texture and organic C), using pedotransfer functions. These measurements also allow estimates of packing density which is also related to soil hydrological properties (e.g. air capacity; Huber et al., 2008).</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Mechanistic relationships between soil physical properties, soil processes, soil functions and delivery of ecosystem goods and services need development</li> </ul>
Rate of erosion	<ul> <li>Defra project SP1303 (Brazier et al., 2012) used power analyses to estimate the number of monitoring locations required to detect a statistically significant change in soil erosion rate on cultivated land in England and Wales.</li> <li>Links directly with soil degradation process (Thematic Strategy for Soil Protection). Pilot study to be run in Defra project SP1301 (following proposals in Defra project SP1303)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Tends to be stratified sampling (sites known to be prone to erosion; see SP1303/SP1311)</li> <li>What constitutes a meaningful change in erosion rates still requires data on the impacts of erosion on soil</li> </ul>
Aggregate stability	<ul> <li>Indicates physical, biological and chemical soil quality.</li> <li>New methodologies (e.g. laser granulometry) show promise for rapid, cost effective measurements.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Lack of data on spatial and temporal variation at the national scale.</li> <li>Lack of standard technique although Defra project SP0519 addresses this point.</li> <li>Analysis of data from various soil types revealed no apparent link with soil processes (runoff, through flow and erosion) and thus soil hydrological behaviour.</li> <li>Insufficient data on 'meaningful' change in aggregate stability i.e. how a change in that property affects processes and thus functions.</li> </ul>
Depth of soil	<ul> <li>Links with soils ability to store and regulate water flow.</li> <li>Relevance to flood regulation and drought tolerance.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Indicates soil volume / quantity rather than quality</li> <li>Requires estimates of bulk density to be meaningful.</li> <li>Highly variable and significant changes likely only over long time spans</li> </ul>
Sealing	<ul> <li>Lends itself to remote sensing i.e. sampling unnecessary.</li> <li>Policy relevant in terms of land use change</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Indicates soil quantity rather than quality Wood et al. (2004)</li> <li>few quantified data demonstrating the effect of soil sealing on soil function</li> </ul>
Visual Soil Evaluation	Indicates physical, biological and chemical soil quality	Semi-quantitative, which challenges suitability for

<ul> <li>Technique is popular and trusted by many in the soil science community</li> <li>Some studies have begun to investigate how VSA might be moved to a quantified scale. Some attempts at more detailed quantification of the process show promising results</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>monitoring.</li> <li>insufficient quantified evidence for statistical rigour to be applied in determining a sampling strategy</li> </ul>
--	---

## 5.2 Data availability and analysis

A robust soil monitoring programme needs to analyse soil data in terms of uncertainty in their measurement; variability (spatially and temporally) in their observed distribution; and the expected rate of change in soil properties that affects soil processes and functions. Whilst a baseline is needed (i.e. the current state of soil), it is the rate of change and the implications of that change in terms of soil functioning that are key to effective soil monitoring. Power analysis was used to understand the variability of indicators as given by observed distributions. This process determines the ability to detect a particular change in the SQI at a particular confidence level, given the 'noise' or variability in the data (i.e. a particular power to detect a change of 'X' at a confidence level of 'Y%' would require 'N' samples).

However, the evidence base is poor: data on the physical SQIs selected by the logical sieve process are limited in spatial and temporal extent for England and Wales. This has limited the degree of analysis and modelling possible. Scientific evidence of 'what is meaningful?' (i.e. what degree of change in the SQI affects soil processes and thus functions) and 'what is detectable?' (i.e. what sample size is needed to detect the meaningful signal from the variability or noise in the signal) is lacking at present. This constrains the design and implementation of a scientifically and statistically rigorous and reliable soil monitoring programme. Evidence that is available suggests that what constitutes meaningful change will depend on soil type, current soil state, land use and the soil function under consideration.

Priority cannot be given amongst the seven SQIs, because the evidence base for each varies in its robustness and extent (although strengths and weaknesses are summarised in Table 9). Lack of data (including uncertainty in measurement and variability in observed distributions) applies to individual SQIs; attempts at integrating more than one SQI to improve associations between soil properties and processes / functions are only likely to propagate errors.

Some technological advances in soil measurements (Work Package 2 report) can be used to expand the evidence base (in space and time) in a rapid, cost-effective manner. This includes the use of NIR sensors to gain measurements of bulk density, texture and packing density. Also, analysis of available data and use of pedotransfer functions has given promising results regarding the prediction of SQI values from relatively easy to measure soil properties (bulk density, texture and organic C).

## 5.3 Options for a national soil monitoring programme

Establishing a consensus on a set of standard conditions to be used for evaluating soil quality at the national scale is difficult, as soil quality is dependent on the soil's primary function, which is site and time specific (Karlen and Stott, 1994). Schipper and Sparling (2000) recognise the challenge: "a standardised methodology may not be appropriate to apply across contrasting soils and land uses. However, it is not practical to optimise sampling and analytical techniques for each soil and land use for extensive sampling on a national scale". How this dilemma is to be reconciled is beyond the scope of the present project, but does warrant further investigation. Soil monitoring programmes should be adaptable to answer the different requirements of stakeholders (which will evolve over time), ensuring they can make best use of collected data to establish the state of national soil resources. A gridded sampling strategy is preferred to a stratified one, as it allows for future policy (and associated questions) to be accommodated.

The number of samples needed for a statistically robust monitoring programme will depend on the SQI and soil function in question, land use, soil type and other site-specific factors. In other words, a different sampling regime is required for different geographical areas and different SQIs, if the monitoring is to be statistically robust. Compromises will have to be made to design and implement a rigorous sampling scheme for multiple SQIs.

In terms of monitoring frequency, monitoring cycles tend to be over long time frames (5 – 15 years apart; Defra, 2011b). This reflects the difficulty in measuring changes in soil status due to the high spatial and temporal variation in rates of change in soil properties; changes occur either very rapidly or very slowly, so again a standardised monitoring methodology may not be appropriate. Soil properties are influenced by many factors and it is not usually possible to link particular changes to particular policy activities, not least because physical changes may not be at a rate that is synchronised with developments in soil / environmental policy. Soil monitoring can be used to determine the overall effectiveness of soils policies in reducing soil degradation, even if it cannot be used to evaluate the effectiveness of individual measures. This presents challenges in ascertaining trends that can feed into policy development or be used to gauge the effectiveness of soil protection policies.

Whether existing monitoring programmes can be adapted to incorporate additional measurement of physical SQIs should be explored. This would include whether the existing proposed sampling support would be sufficient to detect meaningful change in the SQI. As noted above, lack of data means there is uncertainty as to the definition of 'meaningful change'. The challenge is also to decide whether carrying out soil monitoring that is not statistically robust is still valuable in answering questions regarding current and future soil quality.

#### 5.4 Future work

The relationship between physical (and other) SQIs and soil functional performance and how this influences ecosystem services' delivery is complex. Important gaps remain, even in the realisation of a conceptual model for these inter-relationships, let alone their quantification. Better understanding of the mechanisms involved is required. This will include investigating integrative physical, biological and chemical SQIs (e.g. as manifest in aggregate stability and VSE) and how these properties (and changes in them) reflect soil processes and functions.

The scientific robustness of physical SQIs depends on the availability of spatial and temporal data, as these reflect the variability of each property (signal to noise ratio), which in turn determines the sampling strategy required to detect significant change. Whether that change is meaningful depends on the evidence relating soil properties to soil processes and soil functions. The evidence base is poor: data on meaningful (i.e. what degree of change affects soil processes and functions) and detectable (i.e. what sample size is needed to detect the meaningful signal from the variability or noise in the signal) changes, and the extent to which these will vary for different soil types, land covers and soil functions are lacking at present. This constrains the proposal of a rigorous and reliable soil monitoring programme. New methodologies (e.g. NIR sensing or in-situ soil properties; laser granulometry for aggregate stability testing) show promise for rapid, cost effective measurements.

At present there is insufficient quantified evidence for statistical rigour to be applied in determining a sampling strategy for VSE. Some studies have begun to investigate how VSE might be moved to a more detailed, quantified scale to improve the reliability and robustness of this method of soil quality evaluation.

Soil monitoring programmes should be tailored to available resources. Whether existing monitoring programmes can be adapted to incorporate additional measurements of physical SQIs should be explored further. Detailed analysis of existing data has given promising results regarding the prediction of values of SQIs from easy to measure soil properties (bulk density, texture and organic C), using pedotransfer functions. However, what constitutes a meaningful change in each SQI still requires further investigation.

#### References

- Ahmadi A, Neyshabouri M-R, Rouhipour H and Asadi H 2011. Fractal dimension of soil aggregates as an index of soil erodibility. Journal Of Hydrology Volume: 400 Issue: 3-4 Pages: 305-311
- Amézketa, E. 2008. Soil aggregate stability: a review. Journal of Sustainable Agriculture, 14: 2-3; 83-151.
- Arshad, M.A. and Martin, S. 2002. Identifying critical limits for soil quality indicators in agroecosystems. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 88 (2002) 153–160.
- Arshad, M.A., Lowery, B., Grossman, B., 1996. Physical tests for monitoring soil quality. In: Doran, W., Jones, J. (Eds.), Methods for Assessing Soil Quality, Madison, WI, 1996. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. 49, 123–141 (special publication).
- Arvidsson, J. (1998). Influence of soil texture and organic matter content on bulk density, air content, compression index and crop yield in field and laboratory compression experiments. Soil and Tillage Research, 49: 159-170.
- Australian Natural Resources Atlas accessed on line at
- http://www.anra.gov.au/topics/soils/pubs/national/agriculture\_asris\_depth.html, August 2012
- Avery B.W. and Bascombe, C.L. (1982) Soil Survey Laboratory Methods. Soil Survey Technical Monograph No 6, pp83. Harpenden, UK
- Baatz, M. and Schape, A. 2000. Multi-resolutional Segmentation an optimization approach for high quality multi-scale image segmentation. AGIT-Symposium Salzburg 2000, pp. 12-23.
- Baatz, M., Heynen, M., Hofmann, P., Lingenfelder, I., Mimler, M., Schape, A., Weber, M. and Willhauck, G. 2000. eCognition User Guide. Definiens AG. Munich.
- Ball BC and Douglas JT (2003). A simple procedure for assessing soil structural, rooting and surface conditions. Soil Use and Management 19, 50-56.
- Ball, B.C., Batey, T., Munkholm, L.J., (2007). Field assessment of soil structural quality—a development of the Peerlkamp test. Soil Use and Management 23, 329–337.
- Ball, B.C., Campbell, D.J. and Hunter, E.A. (2000). Soil compactibility in relation to physical and organic properties at 156 sites in UK. Soil & Tillage Research 57: 83-91.
- Brady, N.C., (1984) The Nature and Properties of Soils, 9th ed. MacMillan Publishing Co., New York, USA.
- Batey T. 2000. 15. Soil profile description and evaluation. in Smith KA & Mullins CE Eds. Soil and Environmental Analysis: physical methods 2nd Edition. New York : Marcel Dekker, Inc.
- Bellamy, P.H., Loveland, P.J., Bradley, R.I., Lark, R.M. and Kirk, G.J.D. (2005). Carbon losses from all soils across England and Wales 1978–2003. Nature, 437, 245–248.
- Beven, K., Young, P., Romanowicz, R., O'Connell, E., Ewen, J., O'Donnell, G., Holman, I., Posthumus, H., Morris, J., Hollis, J., Rose, S., Lamb, R., Archer, D., 2008. Analysis of historical data sets to look for impacts of land use and management change on flood generation. Defra R&D Final Report FD2120.
- Bhogal, A, Chambers, BJ, Whitmore, AP, Young, I. 2010. Organic manure and crop organic carbon returns effects on soil quality: SOIL-QC. Final report for Defra Project SP0530.
- Bhogal, A., Nicholson, F.A., Young, I., Sturrock, A., Whitmore, A.P. and Chambers, B.J. (2011). Effects of recent and accumulated livestock manure carbon additions on soil fertility and quality. European Journal of Soil Science, 62, 1: 174-181.
- Black, H.I.J, Ritz, K., Campbell, C.D., Harris, J.A., Wood, C., Chamberlain, P.M., Parekh, N., Towers, W. and Scott, A. (2008) SQID: Prioritising biological indicators of soil quality for deployment in a national-scale soil monitoring scheme. Summary report. NERC/Centre for Ecology & Hydrology, 22pp. (CEH Project Number: C03061, Defra Project No. SP0529
- Black, H., Bellamy, P., Creamer, R., Elston, D., Emmett, B., Frogbrook, Z., Hudson, G., Jordan, C., Lark, M., Lilly, A., Marchant, B., Plum, S., Potts, J., Reynolds, B., Thompson, R. and Booth, P. 2008. Design and operation of a UK soil monitoring network Science Report – SC060073 ISBN: 978-1-84432-936-6. Environment Agency, Rio House, Waterside Drive, Aztec West, Almondsbury, Bristol, BS32 4UD
- Boardman J and Poesen J (2006) Soil Erosion in Europe. John Wiley and Sons, UK. 855 pp.
- Boizard H, Batey T, McKenzie D, Richard G, Roger-Estrade J, Ball B, Bradley I, Cattle S, Hasinger G, Munkholm L, Murphy B, Nievergelt J, Peigné J and Shepherd G (2005) Field meeting "Visual Soil Structure Assessment" Held at the INRA Research Station, Estrées-Mons, France 25-27 May 2005.

- Bone J, Head M, Barraclough D, Archer M, Scheib C, Flight D and Voulvoulis N (2010) Soil quality assessment under emerging regulatory requirements. Environment International, 36: 609-622.
- Branson, F.A., G.F. Gifford, K.G. Renard and R.F. Hadley. 1981. Rangeland Hydrology, Kendall Hunt, Dubuque, IA.
- Brazier R, Anderson K, Bellamy P, Ellis M, Evans M, Quine T, Quinton JN, Rawlins B, Rickson, RJ. 2012. Developing a cost-effective framework for monitoring soil erosion in England and Wales. Final Report to Defra: Project SP1303: 2012.
- Brejda, J.J., Moorman, T.B., Douglas, L.K. and Thanh, H.D. (2000). Identification of regional soil quality factors and indicators I: Central and Southern High Plains. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 64, 2115-2124.
- Bryan, R.B., 1968. The development, use and efficiency of indices of soil erodibility. Geoderma, 2(1): 5-26.
- BS 1377-2:1990 (1990). Methods of test for soils for civil engineering purposes. Part 2: classification tests. British Standards Institution.
- Bui EN, Hancock GJ, Chappell A and Gregory LJ (2010) Evaluation of totlerable erosion rates and time to critical tipsoil loss in Australia. CSIRO Land and Water, Canberra
- Bulygina N; McIntyre N; Wheater H (2011). Bayesian conditioning of a rainfall-runoff model for predicting flows in ungauged catchments and under land use changes. Water Resources Research 47: W02503 DOI: 10.1029/2010WR009240
- Canarache, A. (1990). PENETR a generalized semi-empirical model estimating soil resistance to penetration. Soil and Tillage Research, 16, 51-70.
- Caprioli, M. and Tarantino, E. 2003. Urban features recognition from VHR satellite data with an object-oriented approach. Proceedings of Commission IV Joint Workshop (CD-ROM), Challenges in Geospatial Analysis, Integration and Visualization II, September 8–9, 2003, Stuttgart, Germany (2003).
- Carter J; Owens PN; Walling DE; et al. (2003). Fingerprinting suspended sediment sources in a large urban river system. Science Of The Total Environment 314: 513-534
- Carter, M.R. (2002) Soil quality for sustainable land management: organic matter and aggregation interactions that maintain soil functions. Acronomy Journal, 94: 38-47.
- Carter, M.R., Gregorich, E.G., Anderson, D.W., Doran, J.W., Janzen, H.H., Pierce, F.J., 1997. Concepts of soil quality and their significance. In: Gregorich, E.G., Carter, M.R. (Eds.), Soil Quality for Crop Production and Ecosystem Health. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 1–19.
- Chambers, B. J., Davies, D. B., and Holmes, S. 1992 Monitoring of water erosion on arable farms in England and Wales, 1989-90. *Soil Use and Management* **8**, 163-170.
- Chorley, R.J. 1959. The geomorphic significance of some Oxford soils. American Journal of Science, 257: 503-15.
- Cockroft, B., Olsson, K.A., 1997. Case study of soil quality in south-eastern Australia: management of structure for roots in duplex soils. In: Gregorich, E.G., Carter, M.R. (Eds.), Soil Quality for Crop Production and Ecosystem Health. Developments in Soil Science, vol. 25. Elsevier, New York, NY, pp. 339 – 350.
- Collins A. L., Walling D. E., Stroud, R.W. et al. (2010b). Assessing damaged road verges as a suspended sediment source in the Hampshire Avon catchment, southern United Kingdom. Hydrological Processes 24(9): 1106-1122
- Collins A. L., Walling D. E., Webb L. et al. (2010a). Apportioning catchment scale sediment sources using a modified composite fingerprinting technique incorporating property weightings and prior information. Geoderma 155(3-4): 249-261
- Collins A. L., Zhang Y., Walling D. E. et al. (2010c). Tracing sediment loss from eroding farm tracks using a geochemical fingerprinting procedure combining local and genetic algorithm optimisation. Science Of The Total Environment 408(22): 5461-5471.
- Collins, A.L, Walling, D.E., McMellin and Grant, K. (2010d). A preliminary investigation of the efficacy of riparian fencing schemes for reducing contributions from eroding channel banks to the siltation of salmonid spawning gravels across the south west UK. Journal Of Environmental Management 91(6): 1341-1349.
- Collins, A.L. and Walling, D.E. (2002). Selecting fingerprint properties for discriminating potential suspended sediment sources in river basins. J. Hydrol. 261, 218–244.
- Collins, A.L. and Walling, D.E. 2004. Documenting catchment suspended sediment sources: problems, approaches and prospects. Progress in Physical Geography, 28(2): p. 159-196.
- Collins, A.L., Zhang, Y., Walling, D.E., Grenfell, S.E., Smith, P., Grischeff, J., Locke, A., Sweetapple, A. and Brogden, D. (2011) Quantifying fine-grained sediment sources in the

River Axe catchment, southwest England: application of a Monte Carlo numerical modelling framework incorporating local and genetic algorithm optimisation. Hydrological Processes, DOI: 10.1002/hyp.8283

- Cooper, S. (2007) The role of conservation soil management on soil and water protection at different spatial scales. PhD Thesis, Cranfield University.
- Craul, P.J. (1999) Urban Soil: Applications and Practices. Toronto: Wiley
- Da Silva, A.P., Kay, B.D. and Nadler, A. (2001). Factors contributing to temporal stability in spatial patterns of water content in the tillage zone. Soil and Tillage Research, 58: 207-218.
- Dam, R.F., Mehdi, B.B., Burgess, M.S.E., Madramatoo. C.A., Mehuys, G.R. and Callum, I.R. (2005). Soil bulk density and crop yield under eleven consecutive years of corn with different tillage and residue practices in a sandy loam soil in Central Canada. Soil and Tillage Research, 84: 41-53.
- Davidson, D.A. and Wilson, C.A. 2006. An assessment of potential soil indicators for the preservation of Cultural Heritage. Final report. DefraDefra project SP0554
- Davis, C.M. and Fox, J.F. (2009). Sediment Fingerprinting: Review of the Method and Future Improvements for Allocating Nonpoint Source Pollution. Journal of Environmental Engineering 135(7), 490-504
- DCLG (2010) Consultation paper on a new Planning Policy Statement: Planning for a Natural and Healthy Environment. Communities and Local Government Publications. ISBN: 978-1-4098-2261-5. 55pp.
- De Coursey, D.G. and Meyer, L.D. (1977) Philosophy of erosion simulation for land use management. In: Foster, G.R. (ed.) Soil Erosion: Prediction and Control. Proceedings of a national conference on soil erosion, Purdue University, West Lafayette, Indiana. Soil Conservation Society of America, Ankeny, IA, pp. 193–200.
- Defra (2009a). Safeguarding Our Soils: A Strategy for England. Defra publication PB13297. 42pp.
- Defra (2009b). Soil Protection Review 2010. Defra publication PB13311. 50pp.
- Defra, (2011a). The natural choice: securing the value of nature. Natural Environment White Paper. The Stationary Office. ISBN: 9780101808224. Available at <u>www.official-</u>documents.gov.uk. pp78.
- Defra (2011b). Soils Evidence Plan 2011/12. Defra publication PB13510. 12pp.
- Defra, 2004. Critical levels of soil organic carbon in surface soils in relation to soil stability, function and infiltration. Final report to Defra, PE0519. Silsoe Research Institute.
- Department for Communities and Local Government have detailed the National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012),
- http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/2116950.pdf
- Dexter, A.R. 2004a. Soil physical quality; Part I. Theory, effects of soil texture, density, and organic matter, and effects on root growth. Geoderma, 120, 201-214
- Dexter, A.R. 2004b. Soil physical quality; Part II. Friability, tillage, tilth and hard-setting. Geoderma, 120, 215-225.
- Dexter, A.R. 2004c. Soil physical quality; Part III: Unsaturated hydraulic conductivity and general conclusions about S theory. Geoderma, 120, 227-239.
- Dexter, A.R. and Bird, N.R.A. 2001. Methods for predicting the optimum and the range of soil water contents for tillage based on the water retention curve. Soil and Tillage Research , 57, 203-212.
- Dexter, A.R. and Czyz, E.A. 2007. Applications of s-theory in the study of soil physical degradation and its consequences. Land Degradation and Development, 18, 369-381.
- Dexter, A.R. and Richard G. 2009. Tillage of soils in relation to their bi-modal pore size distributions, Soil Till. Res., 103, 113-118.
- Doerr, S.H., Ritsema, C.J., Dekker, L.W., Scott, D.F. & Carter, D. 2007. Water repellence of soils: New insights and emerging research needs. Hydrological Processes, 21, 2223-2228.
- Donelley RR (2009) The Scottish Soil Framework. Edinburgh May 2009
- Doran J W and Parkin T B, 1994 *Defining and assessing soil quality*. In Proceedings of a Symposium on Defining Soil Quality for a Sustainable Environment (Minneapolis, 1992), edited by JW Doran, DC Coleman, DF Bezdicek and BA Stewart, 3-21. Wisconsin: Soil Science Society of America/American Society of Agronomy.
- EEA soil sealing, 2012. http://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/data/eea-fast-track-service-precursor-on-land-monitoring-degree-of-soil-sealing-100m-1

Emmett, BA, Frogbrook, ZL Chamberlain, PM Griffiths, R Pickup, R Poskitt, J Reynolds, B Rowe, E Rowland, P Spurgeon, D Wilson, J Wood. CM. 2008. Countryside Survey Technical Report No.03/07.

Environment Agency (2008) Think Soils. Published by the Environment Agency, Bristol.

EU DG Environment, 2012. Science for Environmental Policy, DG Environment News Alert Service. In-depth report: Soil Sealing, March 2012.

European Commission, 2006. Communication from the Commission to the Council, the European Parliament, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: Thematic Strategy for Soil Protection. COM (2006)231; last accessed 04/04/2007: http://ec.europa.eu/environment/soil/.

Evans, R. 2002. An alternative way to assess water erosion of cultivated land - field-based measurements: and analysis of some results. Applied Geography 2002; 22(2): 187-207.

Evans, R. and Cook S., (1986) Soil Erosion in Britain. SEESOIL (3) 28-58

Fallow, D.J., Brown, D.M., Lauzon, J.D., Parkin, G.W. (2007). Risk assessment of unsuitable winter conditions for manure and nutrient application across Ontario. *J. Environ. Qual.* 36:31-43.

Foresight (2011) The Future of Food and Farming. Final Project Report, The Government Office for Science, London.

Forestry Commission (2003) The Forests and Water Guidelines, 4<sup>th</sup> Edition. Forestry Commission, Edinburgh.

Forum for the Future (2010) Growing pains: population and sustainability in the UK. London.

Gate, O.P., Czyż, E.A. and Dexter, A.R. 2006. Soil physical quality, S, as a basis for relationships between some key physical properties of arable soils. Proceedings of International Soil Tillage Research Organisation, 17th Triennial Conference 28 August–3 September, Kiel, Germany pp 258-264

GeoInformation Group 2012, National Land Use Map http://www.geoinformationgroup.co.uk/products/national-lu

Gill, W. R., and Vandenberg, G. E. (1967). Soil Dynamics in Tillage and Traction. USDA Agricultural Research Service, Agricultural Handbook 316.

Giltrap, D.J. and Hewitt, A.E. (2004) Spatial variability of soil quality indicators in New Zealand soils and land uses, New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research, 47:2, 167-177

Gnatowski, T., Szatyłowicz, J., Brandyk, T. and Kechavarzi C. 2010. Hydraulic properties of fen peat soils in Poland. Geoderma, 154, 188-195.

Gobin A, Govers G, Kirkby MJ, Le Bissonnais Y, Kosmas C, Puigdefabregas J, Van Lynden G and Jones RJA (1999) PESERA Project Technical Annex. Contract No. QLKS-CT-1999-012323, European Commission.

Gomez, A.A., Swete Kelly, D.E., Syers, J.K. and Coughtan, K.J. (1996). Measuring sustainability of agricultural systems at the farm level. In: Doran W and Jones J (Eds) Methods for Assessing Soil Quality, Madison, WI. Soil Sci Soc. Am. 49: 401-410

Graves, A., Morris, J., Deeks, L.K., Rickson, J., Kibblewhite, M.G., Harris, J.A. and Farewell, T.S. (2011) The Total Costs of Soils Degradation in England and Wales. Final project (SP1606) report to Defra.

Gregory, A.S., Webster, C.P., Watts, C.W. and Whalley, W.R. (2010). The effect of different grass species and their different hybrids on soil hydraulic properties. Soil Science Society America Journal 74: 753-761

Gregory, A.S., Watts, C.W., Griffiths, B.S., Hallett, P.D., Hsueh, L.K. and Whitmore, A.P. (2009). The effect of long-term soil management on the physical and biological resilience of a range of arable and grassland soils in England. Geoderma, 153, 172-185.

Grossman, R.B., 1981. Bulk Density: Application, Estimation, and Field Management (second approximation). Nat. Soil Survey Lab., Soil Cons. Survey, Lincoln, NE.

Grossman, R.B. and Berdanier, C.R., 1982. Erosion tolerance for cropland: application of the soil survey data base. In: Determinants of Soil Loss Tolerance. ASA Sp. Publ. No. 45, pp. 113–130 (Chapter 10, ASA, CSSA and SSSA, Madison, WI, USA).

Guimarães RML, Ball BC and Tormena CA (2011) Improvements in the visual evaluation of soil structure. Soil Use and Management, 27: 395-403.

Håkansson I and Lipiec J (2000) A review of the usefulness of relative bulk density values in studies of soil structure and compaction. Soil & Tillage Research, 53: 71–85.

Hakansson, I. (1990). A method for characterizing the state of compactness of the plough layer. Soil and Tillage Research, 16: 105-120.

- Hall, D.G.M., Reeve, M.J., Thomasson, A.J. and Wright, V.F. (1977). Water Retention, Porosity and Density of Field Soils. A.R.C. Soil Survey Technical Monograph 9. Harpenden.
- Hallett, P.D., Baumgartl, T. and Young, I.M. 2001. Subcritical water repellency of aggregates from a range of soil management practices. Soil Science Society of America Journal , 65, 184-190.
- Hatfield, R.G. and Maher, B.A. (2008). Suspended sediment characterization and tracing using a magnetic fingerprinting technique: Bassenthwaite Lake, Cumbria, UK. HOLOCENE 18(1): 105-115
- Heathwaite, A.L., Burt, T.P. and Trudgill, S.T., 1990. Land-use controls on sediment production in a lowland catchment, south-west England. In: J. Boardman, I.D.L. Foster and J.A. Dearing (Editors), Soil Erosion on Agricultural Land. John Wiley and Sons Ltd., Chichester, UK.
- Hemmat, A., Ahmadi, I. and Masoumi, A. (2007). Water infiltration and clod size distribution as influenced by ploughshare type, soil water content and ploughing depth. *Biosystems Engineering* 97: 257-266.
- Hemmat, A., Adamchuk, V. I. (2008). Sensor systems for measuring soil compaction: Review and analysis. Computers and Electronics in Agriculture, 63, 89-103.
- Hess T.M., Holman I.P., Rose S.C., Rosolova Z. and Parrott A. (2010). Estimating the impact of rural land management changes on catchment runoff generation in England and Wales. *Hydrological Processes* 24(10), 1357-1368
- Hill, R.B., Sparling, G., Frampton, C. and Cuff, J. (2003) National Soil Quality Review and Programme Design.
- Hodgson, J.M. (ed.) (1997) Soil Survey Field Handbook: Describing and sampling soil profiles. Technical Monograph No. 5, Silsoe. P116.
- Hodgson, J.M., Hollis, J.M., Jones, R.J.A. and Palmer, R.C. (1976) A comparison of field estimates and laboratory analyses of the silt and clay contents of some west Midland soils. Journal of Soil Science, 27: 411-419.
- Hodgson, J.M. (1976) Soil Survey Field Handbook Describing and Sampling Soil Profiles. Soil Survey Technical Monograph No.5. Adlard & Son Ltd.1976. 99pp.
- Holman I.P., Hess T.M., Rose S.C. (2011). A broad-scale assessment of the effect of improved soil management on catchment Baseflow Index. *Hydrological Processes* 25(16), 2563-2572
- Holman, I.P., Hollis, J.M., Bramley, M.E. and Thompson, T.R.E. (2003) The contribution of soil structural degradation to catchment flooding: a preliminary investigation of the 2000 floods in England and Wales. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences, 7: 755-766.
- Holtan, H.N. and Kirkpatrick, M.H., 1950. Rainfall, infiltration and hydraulics of flow in runoff computation. Transactions of the American Geophysical Union, 31: 771-779.
- Houšková, B. (2005) Visual Soil Assessment. 3rd European Summer School on Soil Survey, co-organized by TAIEX, JRC and SZIU.
- Huber, S., Prokop, G., Arrouays, D., Banko, G., Bispo, A., Jones, R.J.A., Kibblewhite, M.G., Lexer, W., Möller, A., Rickson, R.J., Shishkov, T., Stephens, M., Toth, G. Van den Akker, J.J.H., Varallyay, G., Verheijen, F.G.A. and Jones, A.R. (eds) (2008). Environmental Assessment of Soil for Monitoring: Volume I Indicators & Criteria. EUR 23490 EN/1, Office for the Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg, 339pp.
- Igwe, C..A., 2005. Erodibility in relation to water-dispersible clay for some soils of eastern Nigeria.Land Degrad.Develop.,16,87-96.
- Igwe, C.A. and Udegbunam, O.N. (2008) Soil properties influencing water-dispersible clay and silt in an Ultisol in southern Nigeria. International Agrophysics, 22: 319-325.
- Jeffery, S. and van der Putten, W.H. (2011) Soil borne human diseases. European Commission, Joint Research Centre Scientific and Technical Report. Publications Office of the European Union. Available on line at <u>http://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/bitstream/11111111/22432/2/lbna24893enn</u> .pdf, accessed November 2012
- Jones, C.A. 1983. Effect of soil texture on critical bulk densities for root growth. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 47, 1208–1211.
- Kampouraki, M., Wood, G.A., Brewer, T.R. 2008. Opportunities and limitations of object based image analysis for detecting urban impervious and vegetated surfaces using truecolour aerial photography. In: Object-based Image Analysis: Spatial Concepts for Knowledge-Driven Remote Sensing Applications. Springer-Verlag. pp. 555-570.

- Karlen, D. L. and Stott, D. E. 1994. Framework for evaluating physical and chemical indicators of soil quality. Pages 53-72 *in* J. W. Doran, D. C. Leman, D. F. Bezdicek and B. A. Stewart, eds. Defining soil quality for a sustainable environment; Proceedings of a symposium, Minneapolis, MN, USA, 4-5 November 1992. Soil Science Society of America, Inc., Madison, WI.
- Karlen, D. L., Mausbach, M. J., Doran, J. W., Cline, R. G., Harris, R. F. and Schuman, G. E. 1997. Soil quality: a concept, definition, and framework for evaluation. Soil Science Society of America Journal. 61: 4-10.
- Karlen, D. L., Wollenhaupt, N. C., Erbach, D. C., Berry, E. C., Swan, J. B., Eash, N. S. and Jordahl, J. L. 1994. Crop residue effects on soil quality following 10-years of no-till corn. Soil & Tillage Research 31: 149-167.
- Karlen, D.L., Ditzler, C.A. and Andrews, S.S. 2003. Soil quality: why and how? Geoderma, Volume 114, Issues 3–4, June 2003, Pages 145-156.
- Kibblewhite, M. 2007. Towards a European soil directive the rational and some reflections. Environmental Law and Management, 19(5), pp 227-231.
- Kees, G. (2005). Hand-held electronic cone penetrometers for measuring soil strength, 0524-2837-MTDC, USDA Forest Service, MTDC, Missoula, MT, USA.
- Keller T, Arvidsson J, Dexter A R (2006). Soil structures produced by tillage as affected by soil water content and the physical quality of soil. Soil & Tillage Research 92:45-52.
- Kibblewhite MG, Jones RJA, Montanarella L, Bartiz R, Huber S, Arrouays D, Micheli E and Stephens M (eds) (2008). Environmental Assessment of Soil for Monitoring Volume VI: Soil Monitoring System for Europe. EUR 23490 EN/6, Office for the Official Publichtions of the European Communities Luxembourg, 72pp.
- Kibblewhite, M.G. 2005. Soil quality assessment and management In McGilloway, DA (ed.) Grassland: A Global Resource Proc. Conference: 20th International Grassland Congress Location: Univ Coll Dublin, Dublin, IRELAND Pages: 219-226
- King D, Stengel P, Jamagne M, Le Bas C and Arrouays D (2005) Soil Mapping and Soil Monitoring: State of Progress and Use in France. Pp 139-146. In: Soil Resources of Europe, second edition. R.J.A. Jones, B Houšková, P. Bullock and L. Montanarella (eds). European Soil Bureau Research Report No.9, EUR 20559 EN, (2005), 420pp. Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg.
- Kjaergaard C., de Jonge L.W., Moldrup P., and Schjønning P., 2004. Water-dispersible colloids: effects of measurement method, clay content, initial soil matric potential, and wetting rate. Vadose Zone J., 3, 403-412.
- Koolen, A. J. and Kuipers, H. (1983). Agricultural Soil Mechanics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- Kosmas, C., Gerontidis, St., and Marathainou, M. 2000. The effect of land use change on soil and vegetation over various lithological formations on Lesvos (Greece). Catena, 40:51-68.
- Kosmas, C., Gerontidis, St., Marathianou, M., Detsis, V., and Zafiriou, Th. 2001. The effect of tillage erosion on soil properties and cereal biomass production. Soil & Tillage Research J. 58:31-44
- Kuang B, Mahmood HS, Quraishi Z, Hoogmoed WB, Mouazen A M and van Henten EJ (2012) Sensing soil properties in the laboratory, in situ, and on-line: a review. In Donald Sparks, editors: Advances in Agronomy, 114: 155-244
- Kurz, I., O'Reilly, C.D. and Tunney, H. (2006). Impact of cattle on soil physical properties and nutrient concentrations in overland flow from pastures in Ireland. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 113: 378-390.
- Lal R (1993) Tillage effects on soil degradation, soil resilience, soil quality, and sustainability. Soil & Tillage Research, 27: 1-8
- Lal R, Ahmadi M and Bajracharya RM (2000) Erosional impacts on soil properties and corn yield on Alfisols in central Ohio. Land Degradation & development, 11: 575-585.
- Lal, R., 1998. Soil erosion impact on agronomic productivity and environmental quality. Critical reviews in plant sciences, 17 (4), 319-464.
- Lark, R. M. (2009), "Estimating the regional mean status and change of soil properties: two distinct objectives for soil survey", European Journal of Soil Science, vol. 60, no. 5, pp. 748-756.
- Lark, R.M., Rawlins, B.G., Robinson, D.A., Robinson, I. and Tye A. 2012. Studies to inform policy development with regard to soil degradation (Subproject B, Determination of soil bulk density). Final report to Defra, SP1305.

Lawrie, J, Murphy, B, Packer, IJ and Harte, AJ (2000). Soils and sustainable farming systems. In PEV Charman and BW Murphy (eds). Soils – Their Properties and Management. (Oxford University Press, Melbourne)

Le Bissonnais, Y. (1996). Aggregate stability and assessment of soil crustability and erodability: I. Theory and methodology. European Journal of Soil Science, 47, 425-437.

Leeds-Harrison, P.B., Youngs, E.G. & Uddin, B. 1994. A device for determining the sorptivity of soil aggregates. European Journal of Soil Science , 45, 269-272.

Leprêtre, A., Martin, S., 1994. Sampling strategy for soil quality. Anal. Mag. 33, 40–43.

Logsdon, S.D. and Karlen, D.L. 2004. Bulk density as a soil quality indicator during conversion to no-tillage. Soil & Tillage Research 78 (2004) 143–149

Loveland PJ and McGrath SP (1992) Soil Geochemical Atlas of England and Wales. Blackie, London pp101

Loveland PJ and Thompson TRE (2002) Identification and development of a set of national indicators for soil quality. Environment Agency, R&D Project Record P5-053/PR/02

Low AJ (1954) the study of soil structure in the field and the laboratory. Journal of Soil Science 5:57-74

Mackay, A.D., Simcock, R., Sparling, G.P., Vogler, I. and Francis, G. (2006). Macroporosity. Internal SLURI report. Agresearch, Hamilton.

Marmo L (2010) EU strategies and policies on soil and waste management to offset greenhouse gas emissions. Waste Management, 28:685-689

Matthews GP Watts CW Powlson DS Price JC & Whalley WR (2008) Wetting of agricultural soils measured by a simplified capillary rise technique. European Journal of Soil Science. 59: 817-823.

Matula S, Mojrová M and Špongrová (2007) Estimation of the soil water retention curve (SWRC) using pedotransfer functions (PTFs). Soil & Water Research, 2: 113-122.

Mayr T and Jarvis NJ (1999) Pedotransfer functions to estimate soil water retention parameters for a modified Brooks-Corey type model. Geoderma 91: 1-9.

McHugh, M., (2007) Short-term changes in upland soil erosion in England and Wales: 1999 to 2002. Geomorphology 86 (1-2), 204-213

McHugh, M., Harrod, T., and Morgan, R., (2002) The extent of soil erosion in upland England and Wales. Earth Surf. Process. Landforms 27 (1), 99-107.

McIntyre N; Marshall M (2010). Identification of rural land management signals in runoff response. Hydrological Processes 24(24): 3521-3534

McKenzie DC (Ed.) (1998) 'SOILpak for cotton growers, third edition..' (NSW Agriculture: Orange)

McKyes E (1989) Aricultural engineering soil mechanics. Elsevier, Amsterdam, 291 p.

Meek, B.D., Rechel, E.R., Carter, L.M., DeTar, W.R. and Urie, A.L. (1992). Infiltration Rate of a Sandy Loam Soil: Effects of Traffic, Tillage, and Plant Roots. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 56: 908-913.

Meinel, G. and Hernig, A. 2005. Survey of soil sealing on the basis of the ATKIS basic DLM – feasibilities and limits. 10th International Conference of Information & Communications Technologies (ICT) in Urban Planning and Spatial Development and Impacts of ICT on Physical Space, 22-25 Feb. 2005.

Merrington G, Fishwick S, Barraclough D, Morris J, Preedy N, Boucard T, Reeve M, Smith P and Fang C (2006) The development and use of soil quality indicators for assessing the role of soil in environmental interactions. Environment Agency Science Report SC030265, Bristol, UK

Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (2005) A report of the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment. Accessed on Iline www.millenniumassessment.org, January 2012.

Milton, E.J. and J.P. Webb, 1987. Ground radiometry and airborne multispectral survey of bare soils. International Journal of Remote Sensing, 8(1): p. 3-14.

Milton, E.J., D.J. Gilvear, and I.D. Hooper, 1995. Investigating change in fluvial systems using remotely sensed data, in Changing river channels, A.M. Gurnell and G. Petts, Editors. Wiley: Chichester. p. 277-301.

Moebius, B.N., van Es, H.M., Schindlebeck, R.R., Idowu, J.O., Clune, D.J. and Thies, J.E. 2007. Evaluation of laboratory measured soil properties as indicators of soil physical quality. Soil Science, 172, No 11. P 895-912.

Morgan, R.P.C. and Nearing, M.A. (2011) Handbook of Erosion Modelling. Wiley-Blackwell Publishing Ltd. West Susses, UK, 398p.

Morgan, R.P.C., 2005. Soil Erosion and Conservation. Blackwell, Oxford, 304 pp.

- Mouazen, A. M. and Godwin, D. (2009). Effect of tyre type and inflation pressure of pea harvester on soil compaction. Proceedings of the ISTRO 18th Triennial Conference on Sustainable Agriculture, June 15 19, 2009, Izmir, Turkey, Nr. T4-035.
- Mouazen, A.M and Ramon, H. (2006) Development of on-line measurement system of bulk density based on on-line measured draught, depth and soil moisture content. Soil & Tillage Research, 86(2), 218-229.
- Mouazen, A.M. and Ramon, H., (2009) Expanding implementation of an on-line measurement system of topsoil compaction in loamy sand, loam, silt loam and silt soils. Soil & Tillage Research, 103(1): 98-104.
- Mouazen, A.M., (2006) Soil Survey Device. International publication published under the patent cooperation treaty (PCT). World Intellectual Property Organization, International Bureau. International Publication Number: WO2006/015463; PCT/BE2005/000129; IPC: G01N21/00; G01N21/00.
- Mouazen, A.M., and Ramon, H. 2002. A numerical-statistical hybrid modelling scheme for evaluation of draught requirements of a subsoiler cutting a sandy loam soil, as affected by moisture content, bulk density and depth. Soil and Tillage Research, 63(3-4): 155-165.
- Mueller L, Kay BD, Hu C, Li Y, Schindle U, Behrendt A, Shepherd TG and Ball BC (2009a) Visual assessment of soil structure: Evaluation of methodologies on sites in Canada, China and Germany. Part I: Comparing visual methods and linking them with soil physical data and grain yield of cereals. Soil & Tillage Research, 103: 178-187.
- Mueller L, Kay BD, Deen B, Hu C, Zhang Y, Wolff M, Eulenstein F, Schindel U (2009b) Visual assessment of soil structure: Part II. Implications of tillage, rotation and traffic on sites in Canada, China and Germany. Soil & Tillage Research, 103: 188-196.
- Mueller L, Shepherd G, Schindler U, Ball BC, Munkholm LJ, Hennings V, Smolentseva E, Rukhovic O, Lukin S and Hu C (2012) Evaluation of soil structure in the framework of an overall soil quality rating. Soil & Tillage Research, doi:10.1016/j.still.2012.03.002
- Munkholm, L.J. (2000). The spade analysis a modification of the qualitative spade diagnosis for scientific use. DIAS-report No. 28 Plant Production, Danish Institute of Agricultural Sciences.
- Natural England (2010) England's peatlands: Carbon storage and greenhouse gases (NE257). Available on line <u>http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/30021</u> accessed November 2012
- Newell Price, J.P., Whittingham, M.J., Chambers, B.J. and Peel, S. (2012) Visual soil evaluation in relation to measured soil physical properties in a survey of grassland soil compaction in England and Wales, Soil & Tillage Research, doi:10.1016/j.still.2012.003
- Nielsen DR, Biggar JW and Erh KT (1973) Spatial variability of field-measured soil-water properties. Hilgardia, 42: 215-259
- Nortcliff S (2002) Standardisation of soil quality attributes. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 88: 161-168.
- O'Connell, P.E., Beven, K.J., Carney, J.N., Clements, R.O., Ewen, J., Fowler, H., Harris, G.L., Hollis, J., O'Donnell, G.M., Packman, J.C., Parkin, A., Quinn, P.F., Rose, S.C., Shepherd, M., Tellier, S., 2004. Review of impacts of rural land management on flood generation. Impact Study Report. DefraDefra R&D Technical Report FD2114/TR.
- O'Connell, P.E., Ewen, J., O'Donnell, G., Quinn, P., 2007. Is there a link between agricultural land-use management and flooding?, Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci., 11, 96-107.
- Office of Science and Innovation. 2006. Office of Science and Innovation: science review of the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs.
- Oliver MA, Archer JR, Baxter SJ, Todd AD and Skinner RJ (2006) The representative Soil Sampling Scheme of England and Wales: a statistical analysis of topsoil nutrient status and pH between 1971 and 2001. Soil Use and Management, 22:372-382
- Ostle NJ, Levy PE, Evans CD and Smith P (2009) UK land use and soil carbon sequestration. Land Use Policy, 26S:S274-S283
- Owens, P.N., Rickson, R.J., Clarke, M.A., Dresser, M., Deeks, L.K., Jones, R.J.A., Woods, G.A., Van Oost, K. and Quine, T.A. (2006). Review of the existing knowledge base on magnitude, extent, causes and implications of soil loss due to wind, tillage and coextraction with root vegetables in England and Wales, and recommendations for research priorities. NSRI Report to DEFRA, Project SP08007, Cranfield University, UK.
- Page-Dumroese DS, Abbott AM and Rice TM (2009) Forest Soil Disturbance Monitoring Protocol. Volume II: Supplementary methods, statistics and data collection. United States Department of Agriculture, Forest Service Gen. Tech. Report WO-82b.

- Panagos P, Meusburger K, Alewell C and Montanarella L (2011) Soil erodibility estimation using LUCAS point survey data of Europe. Envrionmental Modelling & Software xxx: 1-3 (doi:10.1016/j.envsoft.2011.11.002)
- Patel, M.S., and Singh, N.T. (1981). Changes in bulk density and water intake rate of a coarse textured soil in relation to different levels of compaction. J. Indian Soc. Soil Sci. 29:110-112.
- Peerlkamp, P.K. 1959. A visual method of soil structure evaluation.Meded. V.d. Landbouwhogeschool en Opzoekingsstations van deStaat te Gent, XXIV, 216–221.
- Peerlkamp, P.K., 1967. Visual estimation of soil structure. In: de Boodt, M., de Leenherr, D.E., Frese, H., Low, A.J., Peerlkamp, P.K. (Eds.), West European Methods for Soil Structure Determination, vol. 2, no. 11, State Faculty Agric. Sci., Ghent, Belgium, pp. 216–223.
- Philip, J.R. 1957. The theory of infiltration: 4. Sorptivity and algebraic infiltration equations. Soil Science, 84, 257-264.
- Pianalto FS (2010) A remote sensing model of construction-related soil disturbance in southern Arizona. Proc. SPIE 7826, 782629 (2010); doi: 10.1117/12.864776.
- Pimental D, Harvey C, Resosudarmo P, Sinclair K, Kurz D, McNair M, Crist S, Sphpritz L, Fitton L, Saffouri R and Blair R (1995) Environmental and economic costs of soil erosion and conservation benefits. Science, 267, 117-1123
- Quine TA, Walling DE. Rates of soil erosion on arable fields in Britain: quantitative data from Caesium-137 measurements. Soil Use and Management 1991;7:169-176.
- Quinton J.N., Catt, J.A. Wood, G.A. and Steer, J. 2006. Soil carbon losses by water erosion: Experimentation and modeling at field and national scales in the UK. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 112 (2006) 87–102
- Quraishi, M. Z. and Mouazen, A. M. (2010). Laboratory evaluation of the influence of bulk density, moisture content and organic matter content on penetration resistance in a sandy loam soil. Proceedings of the International Conference on AgEng2010, September 6-8, 2010, Clermont-Ferrand, France.
- Rauzi, F. and Smith, F. M. (1973). Infiltration rates: three soils with three grazing levels in northeastern Colorado. Journal of Range Management 26, 126-129.
- Rawlins, B.G., Wragg, J. and Lark, R.M. undated. Application of a novel method for soil aggregate stability measurement by laser granulometry with sonication.
- Reynolds, W.D., Bowman, B.T., Drury, C.F., Tan, C.S., Lu, X. 2002. Indicators of good soil physical quality: density and storage parameters. Geoderma , 110, 131-146.
- Reynolds, W.D., Drury, C.F., Tan, C.S., Fox, C.A. & Yang, X.M. 2009. Use of indicators and pore volume-function characteristics to quantify soil physical quality. Geoderma , 152, 252-263.
- Richard G, Boizard H, Roger-Estrade J, Boiffin J and Gu,rif J (1999) Field study of soil compaction due to traffic in northern France: pore space and morphological analysis of compacted zones. Soil and Tillage Research 51, 151-160
- Richards, J.A., and Jia, X. 2005. Remote sensing digital image analysis. Springer.
- Rickson, R.J. 2006. Management of sediment production and prevention in river catchments: A matter of scale? In Collins, A.J. and Owens, P. (eds.) Soil erosion and sediment redistribution in river catchments: measurement, modelling and management in the 21st century. CAB International. pp 228-238.
- Ritz K, Black HIJ, Campbell CD, Harris JA and Wood C (2009) Selecting biological indicators for monitoring soils: A framework for balancing scientific and technical opinion to assist policy development. Ecological Indicators, 9: 1212-1221.
- Robinson, D.A., D. Cooper, B.A. Emmett, C.D. Evans, A. Keith, I. Lebron, S. Lofts, L. Norton, B. Reynolds, E. Tipping, B.G. Rawlins, A.M. Tye, C.W. Watts, W.R. Whalley, H.I.J Black, G.P. Warren, S. Robinson, K. Michaelides, N.J. Hockley. 2010. Defra soil protection research in the context of the soil natural capital / ecosystem services framework. In, Project SP1607: Synthesis of Soil Protection work 1990-2008. Centre for Ecology and Hydrology, UK.
- Sallam A, Jury WA and Letey J (1984) Measurement of gas-diffusion coefficient under relatively low air-filled porosity. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 48: 3-6.
- Saygin, S.D., Cornelis, W.M., Erpul, G. and Gabriels, D. 2012. Comparison of different aggregate stability approaches for loamy sand soils. Applied Soil Ecology 54 (2012) 1–6
- Schipper LA and Sparling GP, 2000 *Performance of soil condition indicators across taxonomic groups and land*. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 64, 300-311.

- Schoenholtz, S.H.; van Miegroet, H.; Burger, J.A. (2000)A review of chemical and physical properties as indicators of forest soil quality: challenges and opportunities. Forest Ecol Manag. 138:335-56.
- Seybold, C.A.; Mausbach, M.J.; Karlen, D.L.; Rogers, H.H. (1998). Quantification of soil quality. In: Soil processes and the carbon cycle. Lal, R. and Stewart, B.A., editors. USA: CRC Press.
- Shepherd TG (2000) Visual soil assessment. Volume 1. Field guide for cropping and pastoral grazing on flat to rolling country. horizons.mw/Landcare Research, Palmerston North. 84 p.
- Shepherd TG (2008) Visual Soil Assessment. Volume 1. Field guide for pastoral grazing and cropping on flat to rolling country. 2 nd edition. Palmerston North, New Zealand, Horizons Regional Council. 106 pp.
- Shepherd TG and Park SC (2003) Visual Soil Assessment: A Management Tool For Dairy Farmers. In: Brookes IM ed. Proceedings of the 1st Dairy Conference. Continuing Massey University Dairy Farming Annual (Volume 55) Dexcel's Ruakura Dairy farmers" Conference, April 7-9, 2003, Rotorua. Pp 111-123.
- Sherard JL and Decker RS (ed) (1977) Dispersive clays, related piping, and erosion in geotechnical projects. A symposium presented at the Seventy-ninth Annual Meeting American Society For Testing and Materials Chicago, III., 27 June-2 July 1976. ASTM Special Technical Publication 623, 495p.
- Shukla, M.K., Lal, R. and Ebinger, M. 2004. Soil Quality Indicators for the North Appalachian experimental watersheds in Coshocton Ohio. Soil Science, Volume 169, Issue 3, 195-205.
- Singh, K.K., Colvin, T.S., Erbach, D.C., Mughal, A.Q., 1992. Tilth index: an approach to quantifying soil tilth. Transactions of ASAE 35 (6), 1777–1785.
- Smith, G., Beare, M., Boyd, M., Downs, T., Gregory, M., Morton, D., Brown, N. and Thomson, A. 2007. UK Land Cover Map Production through Generalisation of OS MasterMap. The Cartographic Journal, 44(3), pp 276-283.
- Smith, R and Quinton, J.N. (2000) Dynamics and scale in simulating erosion by water. In: Schmidt, J. (ed.) Soil Erosion: Application of Physically Based Models. Springer, Berlin, pp. 282–294.
- Soane, B. D. (1973). Techniques for measuring changes in the packing state and cone resistance of soil after the passage of wheels and tracks. European Journal of Soil Science, 24, 311-323.
- Sojka, R.E., Upchurch, D.R., (1999). Reservations regarding the soil quality concept. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 63 (5): 1039–1054.
- Sparling GP and Schipper LA (2002) Soil quality at a national scale in New Zealand. Ecological Risk Assessment. Journal of Environmental Quality, 31: 1848-1857.
- Sparling, G.P, Schipper, L.A., Bettjeman, W. and Hill, R. (2004). Soil quality monitoring in New Zealand: practical lessons from a 6-year trial. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 104, 523-534.
- Spoor G (1979). Soil Type and Workability. In: M G Jarvis and D Mackney (eds). Soil Survey Applications. Soil Survey Technical Monograph No 13. Soil Survey: Harpenden, UK.
- Stallings, J.H. 1964. Phosphorus and water pollution. Journal of Soil Water and Conservation 22: 228-231.
- Stavi I, Ungar ED, Lavee H and Sarah P (2011) Soil aggregate fraction 1- 5 mm: An indicator for soil quality in rangelands. Journal of Arid Environments, 75: 1050-1055
- Stocking, M. and Pain, A. (1983) Soil life and the minimum soil depth for productive yields: developing a new concept. Discussion Paper No. 150, School of Development Studies, University of East Anglia, Norwich vide Bojö, 1991a.
- Sun, Y., Ma, D., Lammers, P. S., Schmittmann, O., and Rose, M. (2006). On-the-go measurement of soil water content and mechanical resistance by a combined horizontal penetrometer. Soil and Tillage Research, 86, 209-217.
- Taylor, M.D., Kim, N.D., Hill, R.B. and Chapman, R. (2010). A review of soil quality indicators and five key issues after 12 yr soil quality monitoring in the Waikato region. Soil Use and Management, 26: 212-224.
- Tekin, Y. and Okursoy, R. (2007). Development of a hydraulic-driven soil penetrometer for measuring soil compaction in field conditions. Journal of Applied Sciences, 7, 918-921.
- Thomasson, A.J. (1982). Soil and climatic aspects of workability and trafficability. Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> Conference of the International Soil Tillage Research Organisation, Osijek, Yugoslavia, p.551-557.

- Thomasson, A.J. 1978. Towards an objective classification of soil structure. J. Soil Sci. 29:38–46.
- Thompson TRE and Peccol EC 1995. Sustaining Land Resources: The Role of Soil Information in Planning the Sustainable Use of Land Resources. Soil Survey and Land Research Centre.
- Tillman, R.W., Scotter, D.R., Wallis, M.G. & Clothier, B.E. 1989. Water repellency and its measurement by using intrinsic sorptivity. Australian Journal of Soil Research , 27, 637-644.
- Tucker, C.J., 1979, Red and photographic infrared linear combinations for monitoring vegetation. Remote Sensing of Environment, 8, pp. 127–170.
- Unger, P. W. and Jones, O. R. (1998). Long-term tillage and cropping systems affect bulk density and penetration resistance of soil cropped to dryland wheat and grain sorghum. Soil and Tillage Research, 45, 39-57.
- Usman, H. (1994). Cattle trampling and soil compaction effects on soil properties of a northeastern Nigerian sandy loam. Arid Soil Resource Rehabilitation 8, 69-75.
- van Genuchten, M.T. 1980. A closed form equation for predicting the hydraulic conductivity of unsaturated soils. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 44, 892-8.
- Van Noordwijk, M., van Roode, M., McCaillie, E.L. and Lusiana, B. (1998) Erosion and sedimentation as multi-scale, fractal processes: implications for models, experiment and the real world. In: Penning de Vries, F.W.T., Agus, F. and Kerr, J. (eds) Soil Erosion at Multiple Scales: Principles and Methods for Assessing Causes and Impact. CAB International, Wallingford, pp. 223–253.
- Van Rompaey, A.J.J., Vieillefont, V., Jones, R.J.A., Montanarella, L., Verstraeten, G, Bazzoffi P., Dostal, T, Krasa, J, de Vente, J., Poesen, J.. Validation of soil erosion estimates at European scale. European Soil Bureau Research Report No.13, EUR 20827 EN, (2003), 26pp. Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg.
- Vandervaere, J., Vauclin, M. & Elrick, D.E. 2000. Transient flow from tension infiltrometers: I. The two-parameter equation. Soil Science Society of America Journal , 64, 1263-1272.
- Várallyay G (2005) Soil survey and soil monitoring in Hungary. Pp 169-179. In: Soil Resources of Europe, second edition. R.J.A. Jones, B Houšková, P. Bullock and L. Montanarella (eds). European Soil Bureau Research Report No.9, EUR 20559 EN, (2005), 420pp. Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg.
- Vaz, C. M. P., Bassoi, L. H. and Hopmans, J. W. (2001). Contribution of water content and bulk density to field soil penetration resistance as measured by a combined cone penetrometer–TDR probe. Soil and Tillage Research, 60, 35-42.Waine, T. W., Blackmore, B. S., Godwin, R. J., 2000. Mapping Available Water Content and Estimating Soil Textural Class Using Electro-magnetic Induction. *EurAgEng* Paper No. 00-SW-044, AgEng2000 Warwick, UK.
- Verheijen, F.G.A., Jones, R.J.A., Rickson, R.J., and Smith, C.J. 2009 Tolerable versus actual soil erosion rates in Europe. Earth-Science Reviews, 94: 23-38
- Walling, D.E. (2005). Tracing suspended sediment sources in catchments and river systems. Sci. Total Environ. 344, 159–184
- Walling, D.E., Quine, T.A., 1991. Use of 137Cs measurements to investigate soil erosion on arable fields in the UK: potential applications and limitations. Journal of Soil Science, 42 (1), 147–165.
- Wander, M.M., Bollero, G.A., 1999. Soil quality assessment of tillage impacts in Illinois. Soil Science Society of America Journal 63, 961–971.
- Watts CW Dexter AR Arvidsson J Czyz EA. (2000c). The effects of simulated tillage and soil factors on soil respiration. Proceedings 15th ISTRO-2000, Fort Worth, TX. July 1-7, 2000
- Watts CW Dexter AR. 1997. The influence of organic matter in reducing the destabilisation of soil by simulated tillage. Soil and Tillage Research, 42, 253-275.
- Watts CW Dexter AR. 1998. Soil friability: theory, measurement and the effects of management and organic carbon content. European Journal of Soil Science: 49, 73-84.
- Watts CW Whalley WR Longstaff, DJ White RP Brookes PC Whitmore AP 2001. Aggregation of soil with different cropping histories following the addition of different organic materials. Soil Use and Management 17, 1–6
- Welsh Assembly Government (2008a). Welsh Soils Action Plan Consultation Document.
- Welsh Assembly Government (2008b). Environment Strategy Action Plan. ISBN 978-0-7504-4937-3. 38pp.

- White DC, Williams M and Barr SL (2008) Detecting sub-surface soil disturbance using hyperspectral first derivative band ratios of associated vegetation stress. The International Archives of the Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Science, Vol. XXXVII. Part B7, Beijing.
- Winder J (2003) Soil Quality Monitoring Program: A literature review. Prepared for the Alberta Environmentally Sustainable Agriculture (AESA) Soil Quality Monitoring Program.
- Wischmeier, W.H., Smith, D.D., 1978. Predicting Rainfall Erosion Losses e A Guide for Conservation Planning. Agriculture Handbook, vol. 537. U.S. Department of Agriculture.
- Wood, G.A., Kibblewhite, M.G., Hannam, J.A., Harris, J.A. and Leeds-Harrison, P.B. 2005. Soil-Based Services In The Built Environment. A report prepared for the Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs.
- Wood, G.A., Loveland P.J. and Kibblewhite M.G. 2004. The use of remote sensing to deliver soil monitoring. A report prepared for the Department of the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs. April 2004
- Yurui, S., Lammers, P. S., Daokun, M., Jianhui, L., and Qingmeng, Z. (2008). Determining soil physical properties by multi-sensor technique. Sens. Actuators, A 147, 352-357.

**CERES Research Repository** 

School of Water, Energy and Environment (SWEE)

https://cran-test-dspace.koha-ptfs.co.uk/

Staff publications (SWEE)

2012-09-30

# Indicators of soil quality - Physical properties (SP1611). Final report to Defra

Rickson, R. Jane

Defra

Rickson J, Deeks LK, Corstanje R, et al., (2012) Indicators of soil quality – physical properties (SP1611). Final Report to Defra, 2012

http://randd.defra.gov.uk/Default.aspx?Menu=Menu&Module=More&Location=None&Completed=1&ProjectID=17595 Downloaded from CERES Research Repository, Cranfield University